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China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited FE € BHBEER (k) ARAA

(the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are pleased to

present the following highlights:-

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited &
EeBREERER) ARLR (AR R

HM B AR ([5HEAKE]) MRASEH THIH

i
For the six months ended 30 June
BEAA=T+RHLEAEA
2009 2008 Change
—gEAE STTAE 2

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER TET
Revenue Yoss 3,667,097 2913118 25.9%
Gross profit £ 367,229 235438 56.0%
Profit before taxation BR 4 B A 194,095 166,456 16.6%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company NNSIE 2N ] 188,748 139,415 35.4%
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREREM &) 26.39 19.92 32.5%
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) BREERM GB) 26.39 19.92 32.5%

The Group's audited profit attributable to owners of the Company for the six
months ended 30 June 2009 (the “Period”) amounted to HK$188.7 million.

Basic earnings per share was HK 26.39 cents.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board") does not recommend the

payment of an interim dividend for the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the six months ended 30 June 2009, the Group has made steady growth in
the after-shock of the 2008 financial crisis. Compared with the same period of 2008,
revenue has increased by 25.9% to HK$3,667.1 million from HK$2,913.1 million
while profit attributable to owners of the Company has increased by 35.4% to
HK$188.7 million from HK$139.4 million. The key driver of the growth was the one-
fold increase in non-ferrous sales resulting from China’s strong demand of copper in

the Period.

During the Period, the scrap steel industry of China has followed the ups and downs
of the downstream steel industry. In the first quarter of 2009, since the country's
economic stimulus package has not yet made its impact, inventories were going up
that drove down the product pricing. This suppressed the pricing of the local scrap
steel, and slowed down their collection and sales activities. However; the global
financial crisis has made greater impact on the steel industry of the United States of
America (the "US”) and Europe, with production volume dropped by more than
40%. This increased the abundancy of scrap steel for exports, and for the first time
in the past 3 years, China has been able to import scrap steel at a price lower than
that of local scrap. During the Period, China has imported 7.6 million tons of scrap
steel as compared with 3.6 million tons for the entire year of 2008. The Group with
its strong overseas sourcing network has also made a comparatively higher volume
of scrap steel imports for its local operation, compensating to some extent the drop

in sales of local sourced scrap.

During the Period, copper price has rebounded by over 60% to over US$5,000 per
ton, and China’s demand was a major driving force, as over 50% of China's copper
consumptions are in infrastructure projects, mainly power projects, which are fueled
by the RMB4 trillion stimulus packages. The Group has benefited from such strong
demand and pricing rebound, with sales revenue almost doubled that of the first half

of 2008, and achieved a higher gross profit margin for the Period.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Contd)

22 June 2009 marked a major milestone for the Company which was successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "“Stock
Exchange”). A net capital of approximately HK$1,684.9 million was raised, of which
approximately HK$781.2 million was deployed in repaying the Group’s major debt,
being the US$80 million secured guaranteed senior notes issued by the Company in
October 2007 (the "“Senior Notes"). After such repayment, the Group's bank
balances and cash as at 30 June 2009 was HK$859.4 million.

Since the listing, the Group is working on new strategic initiatives to speed up
developing the Group into a major player in the Tianjin and Jiangsu regions. These
initiatives included the acquisition of controlling stakes in local scrap metal recyclers
and in forming joint ventures with major scrap metal users in the regions, and such
joint ventures range from recycling collection-distribution centers to car or electrical
appliances breaking centers. In March 2009, the State Department of China has
passed a new regulation (number 551) effective January 2011 that regulates the
collection and recycling of the electrical and electronic products, for the protection
of the environment and promotion of the recycling industry. Under this regulation, a
recycling fund will be set up to subsidize the collection and recycling of the electrical
and electronic products, and their manufacturers or importers are required to make
contribution to this fund. In addition, a qualifying system will be introduced to assess
recyclers that can handle and being subsidized for the recycling. The Group will work
proactively with relevant stakeholders under the new regulation, bringing in
appropriate green technology and get prepared for this major movement of the

country in the recycling industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (Cont'd)

In Jiangsu region, development of the Ningbo site has been completed, and the
Group's second automated scrap metal shredder is being installed and will become
operational in October 2009. On 18 July 2009, a memorandum-of-understanding
was signed with a third party for the acquisition of a type | international deep water
port at a total consideration in the range of RMB200 million to RMB300 million
(approximately HK$230 million to HK$340 million) along the Yangtze River in the
Jiangsu area (such acquisition did not constitute a notifiable transaction under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules). The port has a shore line of 570 meter with an
operational area of approximately 130,000 sq. meters. The Jiangyin port will serve as
a regional logistic and distribution hub supporting the Group's recycling bases in the
Jiangsu region, thus substantially improves the Group’s operational efficiency and
competitiveness in the region. In addition, this will connect, by water transportation,
the Group's recycling centers in Tianjin and Guangzhou, thus effectively covers

customers in cities along the eastern coastal line of China.

Since April 2009, with the introduction of various fiscal and monetary stimulus
policies by the Central People's Government of China, the demand for steel
products in China has revived and prices quickly rebounded to new high since the
2008 financial crisis. Steel productions in June and July 2009 have in fact exceeded
the peaks in 2008. Moreover, the statement of the requirements for fine tuning of
the monetary policy and management of over-capacity issues in the steel among
other industries by the Central Government has curbed demand and pricing of the
steel products. Sustainability of the recoveries in May to July for the remaining

period of 2009 is yet to be seen.

Metal recycling is an industry with strong socio-economic fundamentals and with
policies supported from the Central People’s Government of China, anchoring the
Group's confidence towards its long term sustainable growth prospects. The
management will continue to dedicate efforts in bringing satisfactory returns to the

shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2009 was HK$3,667.1
million (30 June 2008: HK$2,913.1 million), representing an increase of 25.9% as

compared to that for the same period last year.

Increase in the Group's revenue was mainly attributable to the significant increase in
the sales of non-ferrous scrap metals, mainly copper, during the Period. We have
entered into more long-term contracts with overseas suppliers for non-ferrous

scraps metals, thus securing their supply of this high demand metal.

Other Income

Other income, including mainly interest income, rental income and exchange gain,
was decreased by 78.2% from HK$25.1 million for the same period last year to
HK$5.5 million. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in exchange gain by
HK$19.1 million because Renminbi did not further appreciate against US dollars in

the Period.

Distribution and Selling Expenses, Administrative Expenses and Other Expenses

For the six months ended 30 June 2009, distribution and selling expenses amounted
to HK$3.6 million, representing an increase of 36.1% over that of HK$2.6 million for
the same period last year. The increase in distribution and selling expenses was

attributable to the increase in sale activities during the Period.

Administrative expenses including staff salaries, depreciation expenses and other
general administration expenses were increased by 33.8% from HK$25.0 million for
the same period last year to HK$33.4 million. The increase was mainly attributable
to the increase in administrative staff and expenses incurred by the Group for the

purpose of expanding its operation.

Other expenses for the six months ended 30 June 2009 represent professional fees

and listing related expenses for the Company’s listing in June 2009.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Cont'd)

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Financial Instruments

[t represents the gain or loss arising from the change in fair value of the metal
commodity future contracts used to hedge against the Group's purchases and
inventory. Metal commodity prices have been increasing during the Period and
resulted in losses on those commodity future contracts used to hedge against the

corresponding spot purchases or inventory.

[t is the policy of the Group not to enter into any derivative contracts purely for

speculative activities.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by 68.9% from HK$68.0 million to HK$ 1 14.8 million, mainly
due to the interest expenses of the Senior Notes. Under the terms of the Senior
Notes, in the event that the Senior Notes were redeemed between interest
payment dates (23 April and 23 October of each year), the Group would be
required to pay the principal amount of the Senior Notes together with accured and
unpaid interest to the next interest payment date. The Senior Notes were redeemed
on 23 June 2009 as triggered by the listing of the Company, and interest accrued
from 24 April 2009 to 23 October 2009 was paid upon redemption. Total interest
accrued for the period from | January 2009 to 23 October 2009 (approximately 10
months) amounted to HK$ ! 1.0 million was paid and recorded as finance costs for
the Period, whereas interest for only 6 months was accrued for the first half of 2008.
No such interest expenses were incurred after 23 June 2009 as the Senior Notes

were redeemed.

Profit Attributable to the Owners of the Company and Dividend
The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the six months ended 30 June
2009 grew by 35.4% to HK$188.7 million as compared with HK$139.4 million for

the same period last year.

The Board does not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for the Period.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Contd)
Working Capital
The inventory turnover of the Group was 22 days for the six months ended 30 June

2009 as compared to |5 days for the same period last year.

The Group’s debtors' turnover (including both trade debtors and bills receivable)
was 81 days for the six months ended 30 June 2009 as compared to 47 days for the
same period last year. The Group generally allows average credit periods of 30 to 60
days and 30 to 90 days to its ferrous and non-ferrous customers, respectively. The
increase was primarily due to higher business volume and longer credit period
allowed to non-ferrous customers with long-term business relationship. As at 15

September 2009, 70% have already been settled.

The Group's creditors’ turnover was 28 days for the six months ended 30 June 2009
as compared to 19 days for the same period last year. Credit periods granted by the
Group's suppliers range in general from |4 to 45 days. The increase was primarily
induced by the increase in the turnover days of the trade debtors and bills
receivable. As a result, the Group sought longer credit periods and support from the

suppliers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (IR

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Cont'd)

Liquidity and Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2009, the Group had net current assets of HK$2,461.2 million (31
December 2008: HK$630.8 million) of which cash and bank deposits were
HK$937.2 million (31 December 2008: HK$419.4 million).

Total borrowings, including discounted bills, were HK$347.9 million (31 December
2008: HK$ 1,140.9 million). They were mainly used to finance the purchases of the
Group. The borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars
and Renminbi, of which HK$298.5 million were at fixed rates and HK$343.5 million

were repayable within one year.

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 30 June 2009 (total borrowings divided by total
assets) was 8.3% (31 December 2008: 54.3%).

The Group's transactions, and the monetary assets are principally denominated in
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and US dollars. The Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations

in currency exchange rates during the Period.

The Group adopts centralized financing and treasury policies in order to ensure the
group funding is utilized efficiently. Conservative approach is adopted on monitoring
foreign exchange exposure and interest rate risk. Forward contracts were used to
hedge the foreign currency exposure in trading activities when it was considered

appropriate.

The Group's liquidity position remains strong and the Group possesses sufficient
cash and available banking facilities to meet its commitments and working capital
requirements. This strong cash position enables the Group to explore investment

and business development opportunities in expanding its market share in China.

BIEEN® AT

HHERE (&)
mﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ$¥%
RZZEZNFAA=ZTH  ARENRHEE
FEA24612EBT(ZEENEFF_A=T
—H :6.308E#T)  EFReRRTEHRA
9INEAET(ZEENEFT_A=+—0:
4194 L) o

{j:t ih

e (BIERER) A34AT9EB T (=
§A¢+:HE+—H:H4w@%E%

THREREBNEBEES - BFUAAT £
&AEM%@ gh2985EBTTATE LS

 M3.435B B TAR—FEREE -

AEBR-_ETNEA=ZTHNEELE
(B R IA B ERE) B8.3% (ZTTNEF
T-A=1t—H:543%) °

REENRHREBEETRNARE &L
RETAHE - RAHRE - ARENEERREY
BV EAREBEXIHMLREFNEAR
BARHERNEATE -

AREREEESBUERER  KEERAT
R BEREBBE - IM%?%FWT%E&
MERER  AEEERRSEBATRBEY
BREHRR S EBHIMNER R o

ARENRHESMANARDY - AREHE
FHRERAIARITHE  RABNAERE
BEERE - RYMBSMRNEREE A E
REREBEREREE ARETFEOTSHN
B o

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

T

(K



M Management Discussion and Analysis

T

12

BEEN® AT

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERINGS (“IPO”)

On 22 June 2009, the Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. The IPO was well received by investors through both the
international placing and the Hong Kong public offer. On 29 June 2009, the sole
global coordinator, UBS AG (the “Sole Global Coordinator”) on behalf of the
international underwriters exercised an over-allotment option granted by the
Company to the Sole Global Coordinator and 45,000,000 shares in the share capital
of the Company were issued to cover over-allotment in the international placing.
The total net proceeds received by the Company from the IPO, after netting of
share issue costs and redemption of the Senior Notes, was approximately HK$903.7

million.

As stated in the prospectus of the Company dated |0 June 2009 (the “Prospectus”),
the Group planned to use the proceeds for the expansion of the production
capacity, repayment of the Senior Notes, and general working capital purposes. As at

the date of this report, the Group does not anticipate any change to this plan.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

Most of the sales of the Group are settled in Renminbi, which is not freely
convertible into foreign currencies. The fluctuation of Renminbi during the Period
did not have any adverse effect on the Group's results. Besides, the Group will
conduct periodic review of its exposure to foreign exchange risk and may use

financial instrument for hedging purpose when considered appropriate.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As at 30 June 2009, the Group’s capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of
land use rights, property, plant and equipment contracted but not provided for in
the consolidated financial statements amounted to HK$59.3 million (31 December
2008: HK$65.7 million). The Group intended to fund these commitments from
proceeds of the IPO, future operating revenue, bank borrowings, and other sources

of finance when appropriate.

As of the date of this report and as at 30 June 2009, the Board is not aware of any

material contingent liabilities.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

BRAAREE
RZZEZNFRNAZ+=8 ' ARAIRIDAH
RIFERET - BREARRERBTEARES
ETHNERAABRERARREERD - R_F
ZNERAZTNLE  BRERE2BRBAAR LR
T(MBR2RBAA]) ARERBHEETEH
ARARTER2RBRAANBELRE 1
BATAR AR A 45,000,0008% B 15 LA 2 B
REETHBEER AARNRERARRES
WEHAREFRERR (BNRKRNBETRX LE
EELEER) &#499.037E BT -

BMEATESA-TEAEAAHENAR
SR ((ARER) Fit - AEEHERAMRSE
RERAEL  HEELERRFA—HLE
£4 - RABSAE AEEBENHETEA
%8 -

SHNERRER

REBABOEEAARKEE - ARB T8
BEBRINE - ARBRAHRMN KL &
HASBEREERERINTE - Kbz -
AEERETHRIINERR - XHERA
ERTAIREE R A T AR 2 -

=g

EXABRINRER
RZZENEAA=ZTH  AEEBITHEY
ENGENBRERABRBORE T HERE -
ME - BERZEHERFZAD9308E T
(ZEZNF+=-A=1+—H :65708%
) c AEERFRAERLAREEMBIE
AREE Y  RITERREMEBEER (0
BR)EBRSEENES -

REABEABMER -TTNFAA=TH &
FEVTABEMEALREE -



Management Discussion and Analysis (IR

EMPLOYEES
As at 30 June 2009, the Group had a workforce of more than 400 employees.
Salaries of employees are maintained at a competitive level and are reviewed

annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market and economic situation.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its employees or
disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor has it experienced any
difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff. The Group maintains

good relationship with its employees.

The Company has a Pre-IPO share option scheme whereby 47 employees and
directors of the Group are granted options to acquire shares in the Company. No
share options have been granted under the Post-IPO share option scheme since its

adoption.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of corporate governance in
the interests of shareholders. Throughout the Period, the Company followed the
principles and complied with all applicable provisions under the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 4 to the Rules Governing the Listing

of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) save as disclosed below.

Code Provision A.2.1 requires the roles of chairman and chief executive officer to
be separate. Mr. Chun Chi Wai is the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board considers that the current structure facilitates the execution of

the Group's business strategies and maximizes effectiveness of its operation.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions of
the directors, senior management and relevant employees (who, because of their
office in the Company, are likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive
information) of the Company on terms no less exacting than the required standard
of dealings specified in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”) set out in Appendix |0 to the Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all of them have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the
Company's own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions

throughout the six months ended 30 June 2009.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009
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Corporate Governance and Other Information (R

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the management of the
Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed and reviewed the auditing and financial matters, including major internal

control procedures and the interim report for the Period.

All members of the audit committee are independent non-executive directors of
the Company, namely, Mr. Chan Kam Hung (Chairman), Mr. Chan Iu Seng and Mr.
Leung Chong Shun.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

To comply with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices, a remuneration
committee of the Company was established on 22 May 2009 with specific terms of
reference which define clearly its authority and duties. The members of the
remuneration committee include Mr. Chan lu Seng (Chairman), Mr. Chan Kam Hung,
Mr. Leung Chong Shun and Mr. Chun Chi Wai.

INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for the Period.

/\\//\-/\-\

&

ENZES
ARFEGZEREDHANFAEEERERMAL

BEAr gt RAIRIED - W& R EHER
FUBEE  BRIEANBEERFRAHE
MR HRAE

\ )

ERZEE2BNENARALABUINGTE
2 DRIRRBESRE(ER)  REEXER
REINES 4 -

RESTEXERAFHATR  A2EFHHEEE
i iﬁ “HZHRI BEEE
REME -FHEEEXEE

A
=+

%%%E%EGJW~@%%%¢‘%%W%
7T-/u EJZ.?EEE

FHRE

EXgTEAMAHERETFHRE -

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

N

15



(M Corporate Governance and Other Information
tERERRAMER

i o |

16

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme:

The Company has adopted a Pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) on 22 May 2009 under which the Company has conditionally
granted options to certain employees, executives, officers and directors of the
Group to purchase shares of the Company with an exercise price equal to the offer
price as defined in the Prospectus. Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are
set out in the section headed “Summary of the major terms of the Pre-IPO Share

Option Scheme" in Appendix VIl to the Prospectus.

The following table sets out details of the Company's share options granted on 19

June 2009 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme held by employees and

directors and movement in such holdings during the Period:

BRERE
BRRFARERBBETE

ARRIRZETNFRA-tTBREHAERA
MEERBERETE ((ERRAEERBRE
FED) Bt ARRERHME T AEES
TEE - TBABR o BEREERERAR
BREEBHATHEEBNTEERBRMOM
BEhiE  ERAREEABRESEINFES
REBREEMBLEAERAREEABR
BAENEZRIBIE] -6 -

TRENALDFAR-FZNEAATAARE
BRRRBENBRET AR TRERESH
ARRBEE - ARBERHANBRERNNEH

CRLEDETE
Balance as

at | January Balance as at

2009 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 30 June 2009

Category of Date of R=BBh% during during during during RZZEHF

grantees grant  Exercise price  Exercise period -A-8 the Period the Period the Period the Period  AA=TH

RRAEH RTEH e e meEs BRRT  BRTE O BREERE BRAX ka3

HK$
oy
Directors 19 June 2009 518 22 June 2010-
s “EENF 18 June 2017
ARTHA “F-%

AAZTZRE
“EtF

~ATNR — 5,405,404 — — — 5,405,404
Directors 19 June 2009 518 23 June 201 1-
22 “EERNE 18 June 2017
AATNE —B——F
~ARAZTZRZ
“EtF

~ATNR — 5,405,406 — — — 5,405,406
Directors 19 June 2009 5.18 23 June 2012-
EE “EENE 18 June 2017
AATNA “T-CF
~AAZT=ZRE
-t

~ATNA — 5405406 — — — 5405406

— 16,216,216 — — — 16216216

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Contd) BRETE (&)
Balance as
at | January Balance as at
2009 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 30 June 2009
Category of Date of R=2Bn% during during during during R=ZBERE
grantees grant  Exercise price  Exercise period -A-H the Period the Period the Period the Period  "A=71H
RREAEH RTEH TeE oRid meEsg  BRRT O BRTE BREERE BRAX S
HK$
B
Employees 19 June 2009 518 22 June 2010-
k& —EENE 18 June 2017
~ATNA “E-%F
AAZTZHE
“TtF
~ATNA — 4,166,666 — — — 4,166,666
Employees [9 June 2009 5.18 23 June 2011-
3 —ZEENE 18 June 2017
AATNA “E——F
AAZTZRE
“EtF
~ATNR — 4,166,667 — — — 4,166,667
Employees [9 June 2009 518 23 June 2012-
3= ZETNE 18 June 2017
AATNE “E-CF
AAZT=RE
“EtF
~AT/NR — 4,166,667 — — — 4,166,667
— 12,500,000 — — — 12,500,000
Total
a5t — 8716216 — — — 8716216

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited 17
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Contd)

Note: Details of the share options granted to individual directors are set out in the section
headed "Directors’ and Chief Executives Interests and Short Positions in the Company’s

Securities”.

Details of the valuation of share options granted during the Period are set out in

Note 40(a) in the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES® INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2009, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFQO"), as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company as required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code were as follows:
Long positions

(a) Long positions in shares of the Company

BRESE (B
i EREFEROBREOFERREER

IZABRABRER
—ffe

AlE SN ES RAR)

RABRARHNBREGENFEINER
[ 8 B MR M ] — B 9P EE40(a) ©

EERFETRABRARARSFNE
E&M%

“ETEAFRA=TR  ARAEERES
THABRHENADBREEF LG HDIS
3&%%?@@%3&%% IR BIREST
RIME AR DA R AR R A H AR AR
(EERE %&%f%%%mwmmh@ gl
BB S AR

#e

(a) ARBNERKN

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

of the Company

Number of EARAFE
Name of director Capacity ordinary shares BERITRAE
EEnA L) EERYE BAL
Chun Chi Wai Interest of controlled corporation (Note)
REH REGEEES (M) 642,149,181 61.45%
Lai Wun Yin Interest of spouse (Note)
RIGE A BrEas (ML) 642,149,181 61.45%

Note: Mr. Chun Chi Wai is deemed to be interested in such ordinary shares held by
Wellrun Limited (“Wellrun”) as the sole beneficial owner of Wellrun. Ms. Lai Wun
Yin is the spouse of Mr. Chun Chi Wai and is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Mr. Chun Chi Wai.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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T ARRTEEEIFERRAA
([FE)WE—ERHAA &
RERANHERENBRONTHEE
B BMERTHREHALE
WECRE  ARE/RRESEEE
RAEMKRDTEGES -



Corporate Governance and Other Information (IR
TERERRAMER

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT EERIETBAERAATESNE

POSITIONS IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES (Cont'd) BRAER (B)
(b) Long positions in underlying shares of the Company (b) AAREEBRGETE
Percentage of the
Number of options/ issued share capital
underlying shares held of the Company
Capacity PR/ Exercise period EERARERT
Name of director sz 5% HBRG#E T REBDL
Chun Chi Wai REB Beneficial owner 1,930,502 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.18%
ELBEAA —E-ZFRAZTZHE
“ELFRATNA
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 2011-18 June 2017 0.18%
EREAA “T——%XAZT=HZE
“E—FERATAR
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.18%
EafBA “E-—FRAZT=RE
“ELFRATNA
Interest of spouse (Note) 643,500 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.06%
BB (M) “T-TFERAZTZHZE
“E—FRATAR
Interest of spouse (Note) 643,501 23 June 201 1-18 June 2017 0.06%
Eedigs (Fa) “E——fRAZt=RE
“E—tFERATNR
Interest of spouse (Note) 643,501 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.06%
BB (M) “T-"FRAZT=HZE
“E—FRATAR
7,722,008 0.74%
Wong Hok Leung IER Beneficial owner 1,930,502 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.18%
ERfEAA Ay e =
“E-tEXATNR
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 201 1-18 June 2017 0.18%
EREAA “Z——%XAZT=HZE
“EtFRATANR
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.18%
ERfAA “E-"HRAZT=HE

“E—LFRATNA

5,791,506 0.55%

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited 19
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT EERIETBRAERAATESNE

POSITIONS IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES (Cont'd) BRKE (B)
(b) Long positions in underlying shares of the Company (Cont'd) (b) AAREBRRDETE (B)
Percentage of the
Number of options/ issued share capital
underlying shares held of the Company
Capacity FiisBmeE,/ Exercise period EEARERT
Name of director ExpEz 5% HBRO#E T REBEDH
Jiang Yan Zhang ZEE Beneficial owner 514,800 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.05%
EEHAA “E-RERAZTCHE
“T—tFRATAR
Beneficial owner 514,801 23 June 2011-18 June 2017 0.05%
EifAA “T——%R AZt=HEZE
—E-+ERATNR
Beneficial owner 514,801 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.05%
EanBAA “E-—FRAZT=RE

“T—tFRATAR

1,544,402 0.15%

Lai Wun Yin RinE Beneficial owner 643,500 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.06%
EHBEAA “E-TERAZTZRE
“EtFRATAR

Beneficial owner 643,501 23 June 2011-18 June 2017 0.06%
EnBAA “E——%RXAZT=HE
“ELFRATNR

Beneficial owner 643,501 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.06%
EHBEAA “E-Z5X AZt=HE
“TtFRATAE

Interest of spouse (Note) 1,930,502 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.18%
EcBEs (ME) “E-TFRAZTZRE
“E—LFERATNR

Interest of spouse (Note) 1,930,502 23 June 201 1-18 June 2017 0.18%
Fedigs (fa) “E-—fRAZt=RE
“TtFRATAR

Interest of spouse (Note) 1,930,502 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.18%
EBEs (ME) “T-"FRAZT=HE

“E—LFERATNR

7,722,008 0.74%

20  China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT EERIETBAERAATESNE

POSITIONS IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES (Cont'd) BRAER (B)
(b) Long positions in underlying shares of the Company (Cont'd) (b) AAREBRRDEITE (B)
Percentage of the
Number of options/ issued share capital
underlying shares held of the Company
Capacity PR/ Exercise period EEARERT
Name of director ExpnE 56 HBERG#E fTHEER REBDL
Chan lu Seng BEE Beneficial owner 128,700 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.01%
ERfEAA Ay e =
“E—tEXATNR
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2011-18 June 2017 0.01%
ERBEAA “E—%RAZT=HEZE
“E-tEXATNR
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.01%
EanBEAA “E-ZHRXAZTZHE
“E—tEXATNR
386,100 0.04%
Chan Kam Hung PR iR Beneficial owner 128,700 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 0.01%
EnBEAA “E-ZFENAZTZRE
“ELFRATNA
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2011-18 June 2017 0.01%
ERBAA “E——%RAZT=HE
“ELFRATNA
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.01%
EnBEAA “E-ZHRXAZTZHE
“ELFERATNA
386,100 0.04%
Leung Chong Shun 22 Beneficial owner 128,700 22 June 2010-18 June 2017 001%
EnBEAA “E-FFRAZTZRE
“ELFRATNA
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2011-18 June 2017 0.01%
ERBAA “E——%RAZT=HE
“ELFRATNA
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2012-18 June 2017 0.01%
ERBEAA “E-"HRAZTZ=HE

“E—+FRATNH

386,100 0.04%

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited 271
Interim Report 2009



(M Corporate Governance and Other Information

i o |

22

PEEAREMER

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE COMPANY'S SECURITIES (Contd)
(b) Long positions in underlying shares of the Company (Cont'd)

Note: Mr. Chun Chi Wai and Ms. Lai Wun Yin are husband and wife and therefore are

deemed to be interested in the options held by each other.

(c) Long positions in shares and underlying shares of associated corporation of the

EE&EE TRABREARAESNE
kg (&)

b) ARERERBHER (&)
i EERAEEBARLTAXRH

% R RE ARG T HENBEE
REBES -

(c) ZAnrIEENEE MR RID kA EKD

Company

Percentage
of the issued
share capital
of the associated
Name of Number of corporation
associated ordinary LN
Name of director Capacity corporation shares ERITRAE
EEnA 54 HBEEER EERYE Bak

Chun Chi Wai Beneficial owner (Note) Wellrun
REH ExHAA (M) & | 100%

Note: As Wellrun owns more than 50% interest of the Company, Wellrun is an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. Wellrun is also a
controlled corporation of Mr. Chun Chi Wai under the SFO. The entire issued
share capital of Wellrun is owned by Mr. Chun Chi Wai, who is director of the
Company and Wellrun.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors nor the chief executives of the
Company nor their associates had any other interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporations as at 30 June 2009.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2009, the interests or short positions of the following substantial
shareholders, other than the directors or the chief executives of the Company, in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required

to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions

/\\//\-/\-\

&

FTERR

RZZEENFRA=ZTH  BRARAERARK
BITRAEN  REBERERAREES RS
BIRPIFEIBHEATRENECLHA > £B

U]]g ]u

\
/

REERRBRM SRR D K ER KB 1
T
e

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

of the Company

Number of RN
Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary shares BRTRE
RR% S L L EER#E Aok
Wellrun Beneficial owner (Note)
ir8 BEEBERA (e 642,149,18| 61.45%

Note: Wellrun is the controlled corporation of Mr. Chun Chi Wai, a director of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2009, the Company had not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
During the Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold

or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR 2 2 CIE S

Deloitte.
=E)

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA METAL RECYCLING (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Metal Recycling
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company"”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “"Group™) set out on pages 26 to |30, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2009, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the six months ended 30 June 2009, and a

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the

consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Cont'd)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group as at 30 June 2009 and of the Group's profit and cash
flows for the six months ended 30 June 2009 in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the fact that the
corresponding figures set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash
flows and the related notes for the six months ended 30 June 2008 have not been

audited.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

|7 September 2009
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GarTHRAER

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EHZE—

ZENFRA=TRIEANEAR

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEAEA

Notes 2009 2008
k=3 ZBRAF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TERT
(unaudited)
(K& &ER)
Revenue g & 7 3,667,097 2913,118
Cost of sales HE RN (3,299,868) (2,677,680)
Gross profit EA 367,229 235,438
Other income Hi A 8 5,478 25,081
Distribution and selling expenses PERHER X (3,561) (2,617)
Administrative expenses THRAX (33,393) (24,957)
Other expenses H AR (14,898) —
Change in fair value of derivative fTHEeRIA
financial instruments AREE (13,297) 502
Finance costs AEKR 9 (114,847) (68,009)
Share of result of an associate JE1E —FaBt & AR RAE 1,384 1,018
Profit before taxation BRBLADRF 194,095 166,456
Income tax expense FrEBAx< 10 (7,061) (14,743)
Profit for the period HmEF I 187,034 151,713
Other comprehensive income: Hitt2HEWEA :
Exchange difference arising on translation AE 2T EBEE
to presentation currency ER%%’E = 27967
Share of exchange reserve of an associate it —REEAREL#E — 1,456
Other comprehensive income for the period HREM2EBKA = 29,423
Total comprehensive income for the period HAZEKRALE 187,034 181,136

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EZEZZTNFA=THIEREA

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEAEA

Note 2009 2008
Pl & “EENE —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
(unaudited)
(REER)
Profit for the period attributable to: NTEBEREEHREF
Owners of the Company NNGIE N 188,748 139,415
Minority interests DERRER (1,714) 12,298
187,034 151,713
Total comprehensive income for BT &EEGEER
the period attributable to: SEHRALE:
Owners of the Company NNGIE N 188,748 164,979
Minority interests DERRER (1,714) 16,157
187,034 181,136
HK cents HK cents
2l Al
Earnings per share SREF 14
- basic —ERK 26.39 19.92
- diluted —8% 26.39 19.92

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited

Interim Report 2009

27



FeBHIAR

At30June 2009 R-ZETAFSA=1H

Qm':r Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At At
30 June 31 December
Notes 2009 2008
k=3 i i
“EENE —EEN\F
ARA=tH TZ-A=t—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I ERE R 15 83,849 82,537
Investment properties REME 16 1,751 1,770
Prepaid lease payments - non-current portion ANEER - ENHBD |7 94,445 97,989
Interest in an associate R — B & A B M 18 96,556 67,046
Deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights WL AN NES 22,168 12,500
Deposits paid for acquisition of WEME - BB R ER
property, plant and equipment BftiRe 14,282 15,304
313,051 277,146
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 19 541,891 257,536
Trade and other receivables and deposits B REMEKRTIERES 20 2,223,138 835,573
Bills receivable ERE & 2 166,804 304,601
Prepaid lease payments - current portion BNEENR-NHIBH |7 4,407 3,460
Amount due from an associate JE Uy —FEIBS: & 2 R 3R0E 18 54 54
Amount due from a controlling shareholder FEU — i 3 AR R R 3R IR 22 — 771
Deposit paid to a related party FTAEATHRS 23 () [15
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIA 24 476 |, 446
Taxation recoverable QEEE 618 2,182
Pledged bank deposits BEERRITEX 25 64,870 72,455
Restricted bank deposits RRHIRITER 26 12,960 3,63
Bank balances and cash RITERRTE 26 859,409 343,293
3,874,742 1,825,117

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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At30June 2009 R-ETAFSA=1H

At At
30 June 31 December
Notes 2009 2008
Bt i) iy
ZEEAE —EENFE
AE=+H +ZA=+-—8H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBeE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E A e~ RIE 27 1,010,648 52,330
Bills payable ANES S 27 41,734 —
Discounted bills BRI E R 28 166,065 304,60
Amounts due to minority ERKE AR D8RR RIE

shareholders of subsidiaries 29 17 |,286
Amount due to a director N —ZEERRIE 30 — 2219
Derivative financial instruments eI A 24 6,903 127
Secured bank borrowings AEBRTER -

- due within one year —FRIH 3 177,457 128,664
Secured guaranteed senior notes BREERELARE 32 — 696,724
Taxation payable e I8 10,736 8,369

1,413,560 1,194,320

NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,461,182 630,797

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEGERRDEAR 2,774,233 907,943

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE

Secured bank borrowings - due after one year FHEMRITER -

—FiREH 3] 4,364 10,909

Other long-term payable H fth = HA FE 3K 1B 34 454 682

4818 11,59

NET ASSETS EEFRE 2,769,415 896,352
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At30June 2009 R-ZETAFSA=1H

At At
30 June 31 December
Note 2009 2008
Pidx i i
—BENF —ETNF
AA=+HB +TZA=t+-H
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FTHET

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR G
Share capital L 35 105 —
Reserves L 2,706,226 831,554
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARRIEE ARIGHER 2,706,331 831,554
Minority interests PYRFEER 63,084 64,798
TOTAL EQUITY mER 2,769,415 896,352

The consolidated financial statements on pages 26 to 130 were approved and ~ EEEER-_ZZENFNA T LB AELKE
authorised for issue by the board of directors on |7 September 2009 and are  FIEEHNE26E ZF 1308 MirE MK HE -

signed on its behalf by: TR TIMUEESARAAGRE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
= =
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (R
/Z\\’/_L:/\ 2o J;EI?L'"E'"E)J%% EILEN

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATERAEMS
Share Minority
Share Share Capital  Exchange options  Retained interests
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Toal  HERR Total
Rx  RBEE EARE ENHE BRERE REEH &t B @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEr TEx TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  TEx  THExn

At | January 2008 RZZEN\E-F—H = = 161,370 11721 = 105436 278527 34759 313286
Profit for the year FEEF — = = = — %4 294431 13482 307913
Exchange difference arising on BEZIER

translation to presentation currency ~ EEMIEREE = = = 23,145 = = 23,145 3,651 26,796
Share of exchange reserve FEefh - e

of an associate NEE A — — — 1451 — — 1451 — 1451
Total comprehensive income FE2ENNEE = = = 24,59 — %4431 319007 17,133 336,160

for the year
Issue of share (note 35 (i) BiRG (MESs6) — 234000 — = — — 234000 — 234000
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE-HREAR

(note 36) (Fi3E 36) — - — - — — - 9,006 9,006
Capital contribution from a minority ~ — KB AR

shareholder of a subsidiary DPERROME = — = — = = = 3900 3900
At 31 December 2008 —ETN\E

+ZA=+-H = 234,000 161,370 36317 = 399,867 831,554 64,798 896,352

Profit for the period and total HRE A R A

comprehensive income for the period ~ ZERMABE = = = = = 188,748 188,748 (1.714) 187,034
Capitalisation issue ERLET 70 (70) = = = = = = =
Issue of new shares RITHR 35 1,787,065 — — — — 1,787,100 — 1,787,100
Cost of issue of new shares BITHRACAR —  (102215) = = = — (102215) —  (102215)
Share-based payment DI — - — - I,144 — I, 144 = I 144
At 30 June 2009 RZZTNE

~AZTAH 105 1918780 161,370 36317 [,144 588615 2,706,331 63084 2769415
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAHEANE
Share Minority
Share Share Capital  Exchange options  Retained interests
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total  PEHER Total
BA RDEE  BARE  ERFEE BREREE REEN &5t i &5t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$O00 ~ HK§000 ~ HKPO00  HKPO00  HKF000  HK$000  HK$000
THT  TAR TR TAL TR TR TAT TR THR
Unaudited KBEH
At | January 2008 RZZENE
—R—-H — — 161,370 1721 — 105436 278527 34759 313,286
Profit for the period HARET = - - = — 139415 139415 1229 151713
Exchange difference arising on BERIEHEL
translation to presentation currency MEXZR — — — 24,108 — — 24,108 3,859 27967
Share of exchange reserve Efh—RkE
of an associate REER R = — — 1 456 — - | 456 - | 456
Total comprehensive income HN2E
for the period LN & - = - 25,564 — 139415 164979 16,157 181,136
Issue of share (note 35 (ii)) ESit)
(Bt 35 (i) — 234000 - - — — 234000 — 234000
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36) KE-ARE R
(M5t 36) - - - — — - — 9,006 9,006
Capital contribution from a minority —HANERA
shareholder of a subsidiary SERRALE — — — — = - = 3900 3900
At 30 June 2008 RZZEENE
~A=TH = 234,000 161,370 37,285 = 244851 671,506 63,822 741328

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited

Interim Report 2009



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Qm
hoo A s L et

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

The capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate of: AEENEBERRETETIIME B
(i)  the reserve of approximately HK$120,811,000 arising on the acquisition of the (i) RZZEZTLF XA ARFEIMHKRESR
remaining 48% equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company, Asia Steel EREE((REE]D MPBRREEE
(Holdings) Limited, from Mr. Tsui Cham To (“Mr. Tsui"), a minority shareholder, F (MR E]) WEE MR E R E R
by Mr. Chun Chi Wai (“Mr. Chun"), the founder shareholder of the Company in NAMATIBRREEENFEEBAD
June 2007 and representing the unaudited consolidated net assets value of Asia 120,811,000 T * HERFEER T
Steel (Holdings) Limited attributable to Mr. Tsui as at 30 June 2007 reclassified THERNA=THREGRIBRRES
from minority interests as deemed contribution by Mr. Chun; and ENBERARERLEHFTNTMNEE
IREBRAIALERGEEEFE
&
(if) the difference between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital of the (i) RXARR-_ZEE FETEEEAE Fﬁ
subsidiaries acquired by the Company upon the group reorganisation in 2006 BANBARKRAAENEERERD
and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in exchange of RBBZERAMETORNEE %"]
approximately HK$40,559,000. 40,559,000 LH) Z 58
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GEATRER

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

2009 2008
“2ENE —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TEL
(unaudited)
(REER)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEy
Profit before taxation BR B A 4 A 194,095 166,456
Adjustments for: RS
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BRNBEREE 1,730 800
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BERRBRE 6,690 5,265
Depreciation of investment properties REMERE 19 9
Finance costs BEMKA 114,847 68,009
Interest income I B U A (2,010) (4,030)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEVE - BE
LR EER — 32
Share-based payment expenses PARR 5 15 5B [,144 —
Share of result of an associate i AN E S (1,384) (1,018)
Operating cash flows before LEBSEHA
movements in working capital HREEBRENE 315,131 235523
Increase in inventories T ,ab 12 (284,355) (135,673)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other N At e W R IE
receivables and deposits &&f& (&) mb (1,387,565) 83,140
Decrease (increase) in bills receivable ERERRL () 137,797 (40,990)
Net movement in derivative financial instruments TEeRMTAZEFHE 7,746 11,338
Increase in amount due to a minority FERTH B 2 7] D &8
shareholder of a subsidiary AR 3R SR IE L AN 17 —
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables g5 REAME
EEEM Cid) 958,090 (288,484)
Increase in bills payable ARESE Sl 41,734 —
Cash used in operations REXBHANH S (211,405) (135,146)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BENPEAEMER (4,694) (6,778)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded 5:':1:' Bl RMEHN 1,564 —
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded BRBHEH = 859
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXBDANALTEE (214,535) (141,065)
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

Note 2009 2008
P&t Z2BAF —EENE
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TER
(unaudited)
(RIEEZ)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Additional investment in an associate M— LR R HEEIMEE (28,126) —
Deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights Wi FERENENEZES (9,668) (14,017)
Increase in restricted bank deposits PR ISR 1T 7 FE (9,329)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment RENE  BERRE (6,078) (15,203)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WEDE  BER
plant and equipment RENENESE (35) (13,810)
Decrease (increase) in pledged bank deposits EERRITEIOND
(& m) 7,585 (31,462)
Interest received B F R 2,010 4,030
Repayment from (advance to) —EERBREER
a controlling shareholder (FERMER) 771 (760)
Acquisition of a subsidiary YE—RHEAR 36 — 14,030
Decrease in amounts due from minority EUHBRRLE
shareholders of subsidiaries IRR B = 3,265
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment REGMEHE — 588
Acquisition of land use rights U B8 £ 3 {55 P 4 — (1,283)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHHANRLFE (42,870) (54,622)
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

2009 2008
“EEAE —EINF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT BT
(unaudited)
(REEER)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH
Proceeds from issue of new shares, BT MR RIA
net of share issue costs (0B 1D BATRA) 1,684,885 234,000
New bank borrowings raised MERMRITER 180,953 261,294
Redemption of secured guaranteed senior notes EONRAEEREBLEE (781,215) =
Repayment of bank borrowings BRFITHER (138,705) (220,826)
(Decrease) increase in discounted bills BRER Oid) Em (138,536) 53,346
Interest paid EATH S (30,356) (35,241)
Repayment of advance from a director —HEFEERN (2,219) —
Repayment to minority shareholders B AR DE
of subsidiaries RERHEK (1,286) (4,072)
Capital contribution from a minority XE—REHBAR
shareholder of a subsidiary PERRNTE — 3,900
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHELNRS TR 773,521 292,401
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRAE
CASH EQUIVALENTS EEMEMEE 516,116 96,714
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BIRAER
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD REe%EEY 343,293 277,798
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HNEERSZH
RATE CHANGES HEg — 8611
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF HARER
THE PERIOD, REZEY
represented by bank balances and cash (AMRITEHR KA E) 859,409 383,123
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB AN

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 18 July 2007 under the Companies Law, Chapter 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 22 June 2009. The immediate
and ultimate holding company is Wellrun Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands wholly owned by Mr. Chun Chi Wai (“Mr. Chun"), the
founder shareholder of the Company. The addresses of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company are Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY|-1111, Cayman Islands and
Suite 4803, Office Tower Convention Plaza, | Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong

Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its

subsidiaries and an associate are set out in note 43.

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollar. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar for the

convenience of the shareholders as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements for the current period cover the six-
month period ended 30 June 2009. The corresponding comparative amounts
shown for certain notes to the consolidated financial statements cover a
twelve-month period from | January 2008 to 31 December 2008 and

therefore may not be comparable with amounts shown for the current period.

—REHR

ARARZZEZLFL AT N\BRERA
ERERAEFENE CAR—FEHSE
3 WirARIEF) ERSHETMK
UREREERLDA - RARKRGOKZ
ZTENFRAAZTZHRRBEABBER
SRAERRA (B £ - ARA]
MEERSEERARAREBRE L
SHAKLEFEBTRAF - AALRA
BB REREREE([REE])2E
B ARRMAMPLRERFELEM
e 5 Al A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands}
EREFERB\RERESHARE
4803F °

ApaAa—HRERKAR HWEBA
Ak MEBEARNTEEBHRK
43 °

ARRMEBNEEEAZT - ARA
REAREELET  BTHERRHE -
BRI RERIAB TR -

THRNGEAMBERREREE_ZT
NERA=ZTHLERNEARENGEBE
B MEaMBRROE THERZ7
MEBLRABAERBEE_TTNF
—A-HE-TENFt+-A=t—H
I+ EABENMEER Bt - R
PR ERHER2IINEBEALR -

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

37



(IR Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BT

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZ=ZZTNAF A A=+HIE~EA

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
In the current period, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following
new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations (“new and revised
HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”), which are effective for the Group's financial period beginning on |
January 2009.

ERFBERREETNEEMBR
HER

RAHE  AEEREREATIAE
BEFANLE ([BEGHMAE]) MR
M RIERTHER BT ARRE (R
HRBETEEMBREER]) - LK
ERAKER_TENF-A—HRARK

HKAS | (Revised 2007)
BREMENS IR (CTETLERAL)
HKAS 23 (Revised 2007)
BREGERNELR (CETLFEIL)
HKAS 32 & | (Amendments)
BB GENE2RRIH (BITA)
HKFRS | & HKAS 27 (Amendments)
ERMBHRERNE 1R LA B ST ER
F27% (BRI K)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
BRMBHERMELR (BITX)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
BREMBHRERRETHR (BFTX)
HKFRS 8
EREMBREERFESR
HK(IFRIC) - Int 9 and HKAS 39
(Amendments)
Fr BRYKHRERBLEE) -2EFN
RE B & EAE39 (BFA)
HK(IFRIC) - Int |3
B (BRMERERERES) —2EF 1350
HK(IFRIC) - Int 15
Bt (BRPEREREZES) —2BF 168
HK(IFRIC) - Int 16
Bt (ERPEREREZES) —2BF 165

38  China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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B A ER R AR o
Presentation of Financial Statements
ZHRIBHRE
Borrowings Costs
EERA

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

hEeRmIANERRELANEE

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

BRERMBAR - AREZHERRBERARNKA

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

BB KM R

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
ERIANKENE

Operating Segments

gan

Embedded Derivatives

RAATELA

Customer Loyalty Programmes

B P B8

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
FHERR HE

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

RN RN REFR
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. ERHFEGREEITNEBHER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont'd) HEA (&)
HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008, except for the amendment to
HKFRS 5 that is effective for annual periods beginning or after | July 2009
BERMBRELER (BFTX) R-ZZZN\ERMNEANBREEAOZCE -
“TENFLA-BERCRNFEHRRLEANE
BB RE R ELHMEFT AR o

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009 in relation to the amendment to
paragraph 80 of HKAS 39
EERBHREER (BT H) R-_ZZAFRMEBEE G EREI95 F80R &)
BRI 60 & 7 B 1 3 o 2 B B0 B

HKAS | (Revised 2007) has introduced a number of terminology changes, ERAGHENE R (CESLFEITN)
including revised titles for the consolidated financial statements, and has B AETARNEY - BREEIHE
resulted in a number of changes in presentation and disclosure. HKFRS 8 is a HHRENEZE  AMER2IIRKE
disclosure standard that requires the identification of operating segments to be FAEEETES - BAMBEREER
performed on the same basis as financial information that is reported internally FeRHBEEARTEAANTBIENER
for the purpose of allocating resources between segments and assessing their AEEER R LD BRENERE N H
performance. The predecessor standard, HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”, BEMMERERmMZALCEDH - M
required the identification of two sets of segments (business and geographical) BHRRNEESHERFE 4R [H DR
using a risks and returns approach. In the past, the Group's primary reporting = B3R AE AR KB R = A
format was business segments. The application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in PIERRED I (ERE ) - BAE -
a redesignation of the Group's reportable segments as compared with the AEEZVAEB S BERZIRER
primary reportable segments determined in accordance with HKAS 14 (see A o BREBMBREERFESHIL A
note 7). The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no material SEYAEEANREEEGHENSE
effect on the reported results and financial position of the Group for the 1AREENRYRE D BMEREH
current or prior accounting periods. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment S8 (RMEET7) - BRAFTEGREE
has been recognised. AIMERNBREEAN T EEAEE M

ERMNAHBIBATRRNEE RN B
MABKEATE - Bt AEERE
wﬂ&%ﬁmﬂﬁ°
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZ=ZZTNAF A A=+HIE~EA

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. ERHEARESEBINEEHMER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont'd)

EER (8)

The Group has not early applied the following new or revised standards, AEEVEREERATIEEMERE
amendments or interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective: AR S AFIE TR BRI AR

HKFRSs (Amendments)

BERRBHRERE (BFTA)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

BERBBHRE RN (BFIAX)

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008)

BREMENE2TR (CTETNFEITR)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

B G ERIE395 (BFTK)

HKFRS | (Amendment)
ERUBREERF 1R (BFTX)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

BB HEERE2R (BFTX)

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008)
BRMBREEREIR (CTENFELN)
HK(IFRIC) - Int 17

EFr (BRUHHREENZEZES) -2EF175R
HK(IFRIC) - Int 18

Bt (ERPHEREENRERRE) -2BF 1850

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 2009

2009 or | January 2010, as appropriate

¢ Effective for transfers on or after | July 2009

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2010

Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2008'

R-ZE\FEMEATEVBEREENNBENET —HBINEEHH
HEERELHRE TR

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 20092

R-ZFNFRAOTERBERELER M E

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements'

Fa B BERE

Eligible Hedged Items'

AREREHIER"

Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters®

BRRRESNRI R

Group Cash-settled Share-based PaymentTramsactions3

SEUREBEE IR RERNNRZZ

Business Combinations'

RBAH

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners'

MBEBADEFREEE

Transfers of Assets from Customers*

KEEPZEEER
T RIREFAFLA-BRZRRARNE

Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July [ B A 3

2 RZEZNFLtA—BARZE—ZF—
A—R (WiEh) sz ERRNEESHH
EREEETAR

3 RIT-ZTE-—A-HBRZHBRRABRNE

E £

¢ EARZEENFLA—AZZKETT
JEE

¢
m
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZ=ZTTNFA=THIEAREAR

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont'd)

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008) may affect the Group’s accounting
for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after |
January 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised 2008) will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary. The directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of other new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on the results and

the financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair
values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below which conform

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial

and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as

appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other

members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on

consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group'’s equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business
combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the
combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority's
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is

able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the purchase method. The
cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus
any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are recognised at

their fair values at the acquisition date.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at
the minority's proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and

contingent liabilities recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in the normal

course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and

title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through

the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders' rights

to receive payment have been established.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.

All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and
receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a

reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)
Interest in an associate
An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and

that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associate are incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, investment in an associate is carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes
in the Group's share of the net assets of the associate, less any identified
impairment loss. When the Group's share of losses of an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional
share of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate recognised at the
date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. Such goodwill is included within
the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part
of the investment (see the accounting policy in respect of “impairment losses”

of assets below).

Where a group entity transacts with the associate of the Group, profits and
losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the relevant

associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress, over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated residual value, using the

straight-line method.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment in the
course of construction for production or for its own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,

commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the leasehold land component is
classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised over a straight-line basis
over the lease term. During the construction period, the amortisation charge
provided for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings under
construction. Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they
are available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary

for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments are up-front payments to acquire leasehold land
interest. The prepaid lease payments are stated at cost and are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period of the lease
or the operating licence of the relevant entity on a straight-line basis,

whichever is shorter, subject to a cap of 50 years.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital

appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is charged
so as to write off the cost of investment properties using the straight-line

method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Impairment losses

At end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its assets (including goodwill arising from investment in an associate) to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income

immediately.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is

calculated using the weighted average method.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Foreign currencies (Cont'd)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) at the rate of
exchange prevailing at end of the reporting period, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of equity
(the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor

the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that

the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Taxation (Contd)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is
charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with

in equity.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables and
derivative financial instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Contd)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. At end of
each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, bills receivable, amount due from an
associate, amount due from a controlling shareholder, deposit paid to a related
party, pledged bank deposits, restricted bank deposits and bank balances) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment of financial

assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at end of each
reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the

financial assets have been affected.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

*  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
»  default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial

re-organisation.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
and is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original

effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss

directly for all financial assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Contd)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the

assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period. Interest expense is recognised on an effective

interest basis.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities other than derivative financial instruments
(including trade and other payables, bills payable, discounted bills, amounts due
to minority shareholders of subsidiaries, amount due to a director, secured
bank borrowings and other long-term payable) are measured at amortised

cost, using the effective interest method.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Qm

e BB AN

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. EABHEE (E)
Financial instruments (Cont'd) ¢MIA (&)
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd) CHEERER (B)
Guaranteed senior notes BREREBLFE
Guaranteed senior notes issued by the Group contain both liability component AEERTHNERREAZEEEEH
and conversion option component in relation to the warrants attached to ERRBEZBREMNABREZNARE
guaranteed senior notes. The conversion option component relating to the RABERETLD  FRRREENL
warrants that will be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of REERTHIBTEUETLENR S
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own FRE—ERMEERBRARDAAR S ETEH
equity instruments is a conversion option derivative and is accounted for BRERTIANSAEE MRk
separately. At the date of issue, the guaranteed senior notes (including both BEETETANAASHIE - K&
the liability component and conversion option component relating to the TEY AREREARE (BEABARR
warrants) are recognised at fair value. EENRGERAMERES D) ROLE
R e
In subsequent periods, the liability component of the guaranteed senior notes REEEE FERELRENEED
is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method and the ARAERANSEABHEK ARSI - M
conversion option derivative is measured at its fair value. Transaction costs AABRERTETRANAAERNE -
that relate to the issue of the guaranteed senior notes are allocated to the BRZTEER ﬁﬁ'ﬁ%‘%fﬁ@?&%ﬁ%ﬁ/ﬁw
liability and conversion option derivative relating to the warrants in proportion RAAERISEZEEBARAREZNE
to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to conversion option ERHBE Tﬁgﬁil/\u * FER
derivative relating to the warrants are charged to profit or loss immediately. REENEREERITETIANIIK
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the AREFABRE - EHAEHS E’\J?&
carrying amount of the liability component of the guaranteed senior notes and SRR ABEREAZEENEESH
amortised over the period of the guaranteed senior notes using the effective SHERMEE - ﬂﬂﬁ/\ﬁ%ﬂw?iﬁéﬁ%%
interest method. BEZRHBAKH -
Equity instruments #nITA
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds ARAETHER TANERAERE
received, net of direct issue costs. MREERBETRRGIEK -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

BB RRM

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)

Transaction costs of equity transaction

The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a
deduction from equity (net of any related income tax benefit) to the extent
they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that
otherwise would have been avoided. The costs of an equity transaction that is

abandoned are recognised as an expense.

Transaction costs related jointly to concurrent offering of some shares and
listing of shares are allocated using a basis of allocation that is rational and

consistent with similar transactions.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at end of
each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

immediately.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is
recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and recognise a collateralised borrowing for proceeds

received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZ=ZTTNFA=THIEAREAR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions in respect of share options

granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of
share options granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options

reserve).

At end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit

or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are charged as expenses when employees have

rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

BB RRM

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key source of estimation uncertainty at end of the reporting period, that
has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, is discussed below.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

In determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at
30 June 2009, the carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group was

approximately HK$2,003,087,000 (31 December 2008: HK$772,256,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall

strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the
payables and borrowings disclosed in notes 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 34, cash
and cash equivalents disclosed in note 26, and equity attributable to owners of

the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. As part of
this review, the directors consider the cost and the risks associated with each
class of the capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends as well

as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €WMIA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) EMIASDE
At 30 June At 31 December

2009 2008
R-ZZBLF RZFENE
ARE+H TZA=t+-H

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THET
Financial assets CREE
Loans and receivables B e s
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BREREBALZED) 3,114,246 1,497,723
Derivative financial instruments TESBMIA 476 [,446
Financial liabilities =R
Amortised cost B AR 1,326,062 1,173,701
Derivative financial instruments MESMTA 6,903 [27
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

6.

BB RRM

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bills receivable, amount due from an associate, amount due
from a controlling shareholder; deposit paid to a related party, derivative
financial instruments, pledged bank deposits, restricted bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, bills payable,
discounted bills, amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries,
amount due to a director, secured bank borrowings, secured guaranteed
senior notes and other long-term payable. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
certain of these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.

Credit risk

At end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
perform an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #Z

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd)

Credit risk (Contd)

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt and bill receivable
at end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 41.3% of the total trade
and bills receivables as at 30 June 2009 (31 December 2008: 39.4%) was
due from the Group's largest debtor and 92.3% of the total trade and
bills receivables as at 30 June 2009 (31 December 2008: 92.3%) was due
from the five largest debtors. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the risk will be gradually reduced as the Group's customer
base has been diversified and became less concentrated during the

period.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical location is
mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), which accounted
for over 90% of the total trade and bills receivables at end of each

reporting period.

Except for bank deposits of approximately HK$692,431,000 as at 30 June
2009 which are deposited with a single bank, the Group has no other
significant concentration of credit risk with exposure spread over a

number of counterparties.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are

banks with good reputation.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

6.

BB RRM

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and other sources of funding and considers the risk is

minimal at this stage.

The Group relies on bank borrowings and guaranteed senior notes as
significant sources of liquidity. Details of these are set out in notes 3| and
32.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both

interest and principal cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements I"'...

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd)
Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

uvT\ (== E?M’ja #ﬁi’% ﬁﬁ

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZ=ZTTNFA=THIEAREAR

6. SRMIE (B
(b) SRMEAREEREREE (&)
HBES AR ()
REBEERFIEAR

Weighted  Less than Carrying
average 3 months Total  amount at
effective or on 3-6 6 months Over undiscounted  30.06.2009
interest rate demand months  to | year | year cash flows R=ZZENF
mEFH  HSR3MEA AERRE RA=TH
BERAE fEEXK 3Z6ffR 6EAZ1F BB REAE NEREE
%  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
% TERT TER TER TER TER TER
At 30 June 2009 RZBEHF
AA=TH
Non-derivative kLR
financial liabilities 8%
Trade and other BoREM
payables FERFE — 913,154 22,522 295 — 935971 935,971
Bills payable ANES: — 31,301 3,888 6,544 — 41,733 41,734
Discounted bills HARE — 103,016 63,049 — — 166065 166,065
Amounts due to ERMBAR
minority HPERRHE
shareholders of
subsidiaries — 17 — — — 17 17
Secured bank BHEART
borrowings EE
— fixed rate -8 5.1 110,478 1,295 22,562 — 134,335 132,398
— variable rate R 342 29,412 9,512 6,769 4513 50,206 49,423
Other long-term HthRE
payable B E — — — — 454 454 454
1,187,378 100,266 36,170 4967 1,328,781 1,326,062
Derivatives settled net &FELEH
fTEIR
Future contracts HEAH — 6,903 — — — 6,903 6,903
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EHZE—

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd)

Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Cont'd)

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

6. £WMIA (&)

(b) EREAREFZERREE (B)

RBEL R (E)

RBESRABEBRE (E)

Carrying
amount at
Weighted Less than 31.12.2008
average 3 months Total N
effective or on undiscounted  —EENF
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over  cash flows +=R
mEFH  HSRIEA months  to | year |year AERRE =T-8
ERAE ZEZRE  3Z6EA 6EAZIE  BBIF RELE  WEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TEL THEL TEL THET TEL
At 31 December 2008~ RZ-ZEEN\F
+ZA=+-H
Non-derivative financial ~ ¥fT£ & MEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables 2 5 R E At
MR — 28616 — — — 28616 28616
Discounted bills BRER — 155,406 149,195 — — 304,601 304,601
Amounts due to minority  FEfT B2 Fl
shareholders of SEREHE
subsidiaries — 286 — — — 286 286
Amount due to a director FEff —REFHE = 2219 — — — 2219 2219
Secured bank borrowings A HRITEH
— fixed rate -EE 478 60,516 — — — 60,516 59,802
— variable rate —-%8 537 36,805 26,698 6,897 11,495 81,895 79,771
Secured guaranteed BREER
senior notes BARE 1936 — 747,677 - - 747,677 696,724
Other long-term payable Al & HIE 1 508 — — — — 682 682 682
— 284,848 923,570 6,897 12,177 1,227,492 1,173,701
Derivatives settled net ~ RFELEH
i -
Future contracts HELH — 127 — — — 127 127
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Contd) 6. SRMIE (B
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont'd) (b) ¢RMEABEEEEREE (&)
Market risk 5 m B
There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risk or the AEENTSRRIEERKRE
manner in which it manages and measures the risk. Bl 7 A mEE -
(i) Currency risk () E¥EE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated RIS B RE - AREU
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at end of the reporting INEIHENEEEERERA
period are as follows: EOREENT
Liabilities Assets
8 AE
At At At At
30 June 31| December 30 June 31 December
2009 2008 2009 2008

R-ZZZBAE R-TTN\F R-BBRE R-TTN\F

A

ARA=tH t=A=+—H AR=tTH tZA=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TET
United States dollar 37T ([Z7T])

("usD") 81,415 43,049 3,604 43,604
Renminbi (“‘RMB")  AR® ([ AR®]) — — 96,758 13,533
Hong Kong dollar 7T ([&7L])

("HKD") — 14,110 10,198 663
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging AEE B A EINEE R
policy. However, management closely monitors foreign exchange RoAMm EERESRYET
exposure and will use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge SMERLRE - Y ER A INE R
any significant foreign currency exposure. BRHPEARIINERR
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd)
Market risk (Cont'd)

0

Currency risk (Cont'd)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currencies of USD,
RMB and HKD when such currencies are different from the

functional currencies of the relevant group entities.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
appreciation and depreciation in the above foreign currencies
against the functional currencies of the corresponding group
entities, except for HKD against USD since the two currencies are
pegged in the market and are excluded from the sensitivity analysis.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the period/year end for a 5% increase in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes mainly trade
receivables, bank balances, trade payables and bank borrowings. A
positive/negative number below indicates a decrease/an increase in
profit before taxation where the USD, RMB and HKD strengthen
5% against the functional currency of the corresponding group
entity. For a 5% weakening of the above foreign currency against the
functional currency of the corresponding group entity, there would

be an equal and opposite impact.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited

Interim Report 2009

6.

¢WIE (&)
(b) SRMAREEEEREE (&)
HEmE ()
i) EE@REE)
BREH

AEEIEEGET ARK
RET(EZEEBAHNA
BAEEERENEERE) I
BRI -

TREY LM ELABEE
ERNMEEBHERLE
5% M BURE 1B (BT E
TR - RiEMBERETS

FEENE, KRB AR
BEAM) 5% BRABREE
EREABREINER BT
ANgRELE KKRTER
EBHEXSE R E ST
- BREATEBERKE
ERAMNETENSEIER -
W/ FRIAIMNETE EK5%
HIEEAERENE - FRED
MEIEEFERKESHE R
118 ERESRERRT
fER e fET ARERE
TREREEERNONEES
FHEE% * BN TIEE B &
FKRBBATRFR D0

f EMANE L EEE BB R
MEEE®EES  BeEL
REMHEREE -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Contd) 6. EWMIE (B
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont'd) (b) ¢RMEABEEEEREE (&)
Market risk (Cont'd) hEmE (&)
(i) Currency risk (Cont'd) () EXER(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd) FRE A (B)
Six months Year
ended ended
30 June 31 December
2009 2008
Bz Bz
“2RAF —ETNF
AA=tTHLE +ZA=+—ARiLt
~EA FE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Decrease (increase) in B B AL AR
profit before taxation: ()
USD against RMB ETRARE 3,547 827
RMB against USD AREHZET (4,838) (677)
HKD against RMB BTRARE — 250
(1,291) 400
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd)
Market risk (Cont'd)

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank borrowings and secured guaranteed senior notes
(see notes 31 and 32 for details). The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings (see note 31| for details of these borrowings) and bank

deposits.

The Group'’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. The
Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rate arising from the Group's RMB and USD

variable-rate borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings at end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole period/year. A 50 basis point increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management's assessment

of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Qm
AP EmRMEE

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 6. EWMIE (B
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont'd) (b) ¢RMEABEEEEREE (&)

Market risk (Cont'd) hEmE (&)

(i) Interest rate risk (Cont'd) (i) FIXER (&)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd) FRE A (B)
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other =& EF /T RS0 AT
variables were held constant, the Group's profit before taxation for RHMASZRZERTEZ - Al
the six months ended 30 June 2009 would decrease/increase by AEERBE_ZTTNFRA
HK$247,000 (year ended 31 December 2008: HK$399,000). =+ B IEREA BB ADE

B8 > /18 IN247,000 T
(BE-_ZENE+_RA=+
— H It & EF : 399,000%

TT)
No sensitivity analysis has been prepared for variable-rate bank BRAAREERAEBRAR
deposits as the directors of the Company consider the exposure is BRI EREERITER
limited. ETREEDN -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Contd)
Market risk (Cont'd)

(i)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its future
contracts on non-ferrous metals at end of the reporting period.
Management manages this exposure by a team of specialists, who
closely monitors the future markets and the position of the Group
and will take necessary action to minimise the risk to the Group.
The Group’s other price risk is mainly concentrated on future

prices quoted in the relevant exchanges.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to other price risk of future contracts on non-ferrous
metals at end of the reporting period. A 5% increase or decrease is
used when reporting other price risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management's assessment of the

reasonably possible change.

If the quoted prices of the future contracts had been 5% higher/
lower as a result of the changes in the relevant market commodity
prices, profit for the period would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$3,727,000 (year ended 3| December 2008:
HK$847,000). The sensitivities are based on the assumption that the
quoted price of the future contract in the denominated currency
increases/decreases by 5% with all other variables held constant.
These sensitivities should be used with care. The relationship
between currencies and commodity prices is a complex one and
changes in exchange rates can influence commodity prices and vice

versa. For the purpose of the above sensitivity analysis, exchange

fluctuation is ignored.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Contd)
(c) Fair value
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as

follows:

*  the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative financial instruments) with standard terms and conditions
and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference

to quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and

*  the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for

similar instruments.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial

statements approximate their fair values.

6. ERMIA (B
(c) DAE
CREERSRABNOAENR
RTHREE

o BEREGTRENE  ETRR
REBERABUETZEEDN
cHEERERAE (BET
AEMIA)NAAENDH
BEMBTSEERERERE
BE: R

o HieRAERGRAR
REHREERERRE
ATMAREEER - ﬁﬁ
AITIZ AT BUAIR Z 0B
%ﬁﬁﬁwlﬂmﬁﬁgio

n s
>

xrm fol

&

ESRR BeVBRAAKEH
RASIENEREERSRAGEN
REEEEAAERE
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” with effect from |
January 2009. HKFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the
basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the board of directors of
the Company) in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance. In contrast, the predecessor standard, HKAS [4 “Segment
Reporting”, required an entity to identify two sets of segments (business and
geographical) using a risks and returns approach, with the entity’s “system of
internal financial reporting to key management personnel” serving only as the
starting point for the identification of such segments. In the past, the Group's
primary reporting format was business segments. The application of HKFRS 8
has not resulted in a redesignation of the Group's reportable segments as
compared with the primary reportable segments determined in accordance
with HKAS 14, nor has the adoption of HKFRS 8 changed the basis of

measurement of segment financial information.

The Group is engaged in the principal business of metal recycling, involving the
recycling of scrap metal into recycled ferrous and non-ferrous metals, which
are the raw materials for a wide range of metallic end-products. The Group
collects scrap steel, scrap copper and other scrap metals and processes them
using advanced equipment to produce quality recycled scrap metals. From time
to time, the Group also sells scrap metals collected directly to customers
when the quality of such scrap metals meets certain required standards. The

metals can be broadly classified into two categories:

(i)  ferrous metal, namely iron and steel; and
(i) non-ferrous metal, including copper; aluminium, etc.

The board of directors of the Company regularly reviews revenue analysis by
two principal metals processed/sold by the Group and the Group's
consolidated profit for the period for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment. As no other discrete financial information is available
for the assessment of different business activities, no segment information is

presented other than entity-wide disclosures.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZE—

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Entity-wide disclosures
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue by principal metals for the

period:

B M BHRRME

e

TENFRAZTRILAER

KER D BER (B)
BEARMNKE

RAHRE  AEENRSETESED
EREATHO AT

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

2009 2008

—EENE “TENFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FET

(unaudited)

(REERZ)

Ferrous metal Z2EeB 556,111 1,258,548
Non-ferrous metal BB 3,110,986 [,654,570
3,667,097 2,913,118

As at both 31 December 2008 and 30 June 2009, substantially all of the
Group's non-current assets are located in the places of domicile of the

relevant group entities, namely the PRC, Macau and Hong Kong.

R-ZENF+-A=t—BR_ZZ
NERA=1TH ARENABIIER
PEEQUNEASEERNMEN -
AR RFRER

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

1 i

71

1



£1T|".r Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

72

an\ o 7M’77 #&i‘i W it

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7.

Entity-wide disclosures (Contd)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by places of domicile and

other places for the period:

bz R 2 HER (F)
EMARNKE (8)

RAHR  AEBORREMELRE
feipRETHATMT :

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

2009 2008
“EERF —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TERT
(unaudited)
(K& &ER)
Place of domicile of relevant group entities HASEERNMEN
—The PRC — 981,998 1,713,620
Other places H &
—The PRC — 2,477,333 1,199,498
— Hong Kong —&BE 192,438 —
— Others —EHfth 15,328 —
3,667,097 2913118

Each of the three (six months ended 30 June 2008: three) largest customers of
the Group contributes more than 10% of the Group's revenue for the current
period. Revenue of approximately HK$1,002 million, HK$685 million and
HK$648 million are attributed to these three customers, respectively, for the
six months ended 30 June 2009 (six months ended 30 June 2008 (unaudited):
approximately HK$976 million, HK$448 million and HK$438 million,

respectively) and are mainly attributable to non-ferrous metal sales.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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SARBRERSE

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

OTHER INCOME 8. HftA
Six months ended 30 June
BEZAA=THLKEA
2009 2008
“EEZRF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
(unaudited)
(R&&ERZ)
Interest income FEWA 2,010 4,030
Net exchange gain BE K e EE 1,270 20,378
Rental income L ON 283 118
Others it 1,915 555
5,478 25,081
FINANCE COSTS 9. BMEMXK
Six months ended 30 June
BEAA=ZtHLEREA
2009 2008
ZEEZRF —ETNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FTET
(unaudited)
(R&&ER)
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts ARTFRNEHRERN
wholly repayable within five years BITERKE M E 3,836 8,721
Effective interest expense on BREERBARE
secured guaranteed senior notes R BERF R X 111,011 59,288
114,847 68,009
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FTBEHMAX
Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THILAEA

2009 2008
—EENE “TITN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TET
(unaudited)
(REER)
The charge (credit) comprises: ER (B%) BHE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax o B (P A5 A
Current period A 7,312 14,697
(Over)underprovision in prior periods FFEEE (BR) TR (251) 2
7,061 14,699
Deferred taxation EIEHIA
Current period A HAE = 77
Effect of change in tax rate MELPHTE — (33)
= 44
7,061 14,743
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group's RERMEDRE  ARAEEREEDN
subsidiaries in Hong Kong either had no assessable profit or incurred tax losses it B8 2 B 3 M e AR B M S EE £ LIRSS
during both periods. B BUREBENEGHERBTENGEHR
R R -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Contd) 10. FrB%iM% (&)
The basic tax rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25%. Pursuant to the AEENTEMNBARMNERTEA
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a PRC subsidiary of the Group, 25% - REPEREEERER &%
Guangzhou Asia Steel Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Asia Steel”) is exempted from B BB AR EMNEMHMEARA
PRC Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from its first profit-making Al (EMDH]) B & EEMNEE 2
year, followed by a 50% reduction for the next three years. 2008 is the final SMEPBRCEMGHR  ARHE=F
year in which Guangzhou Asia Steel is subject to a 50% tax deduction. BRFEMCEREN -  —Z22N\ER

EMNGHERFLBROKEREFE -

Under Decree-Law no. 58/99/M, Central Steel (Macao Commercial Offshore) RIREE (RF) BERABEERBER
Limited (“Central Steel”), a Macau subsidiary incorporated under that Law AR(HREM]) BREE58,/99/M
(called “58/99/M Company”), is exempted from Macau Complementary tax WELHMK L HRMKE LR (A
(Macau income tax) as the 58/99/M Company does not sell its products to any [68,799,/ M2 All) - #5899,/
Macau resident company during both periods. MZX RIBA L dat 7 {8 HA ] 3 2% [e) ()R P R

TRTEEER  BMHBIEFESS,99,/
MEEES ERERM RN (BN ATE
B o
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Contd) 10.

The tax charge for the period can be reconciled to the profit before taxation

per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

FEHEX (&)

RABBEHIES HEEE
BB AR FEEDT -

2EREE

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

2009 2008
2 %:3 —ETN\E
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
(unaudited)
(REER)
Profit before taxation R 75 A4 194,095 166,456
Tax at the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax rate of 25% REI (R RS HME 256% 48,524 41,614
Tax effect of expenses not
deductible for tax purpose AAHRAX OB 2 38,376 20,239
Tax effect of income not
taxable for tax purpose FRMBMANBBTE (37) (3,951)
Tax effect of share result of an associate B —EBERREENRETE (346) (255)
Tax effect of tax exemption BT EIM B A EE
granted to a PRC subsidiary %Rlﬁ%ﬁaﬁﬁ%ﬂfr%%; = (6,397)
Tax effect of tax exemption granted TRPIMTE 2 Al
to a Macau subsidiary HIERHENN BT E (85,393) (38,464)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ABRNPBEEENR BT E 6,604 1,988
Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised PABTRERNTBEEE (416) =
Decrease in opening deferred
tax liability resulting ERBETREH
from a decrease in applicable tax rate ELERBRERD = 33)
(Over)underprovision in prior periods BESHEER (BE) TR (251) 2
Tax charge for the period HARB X 7,061 14,743

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 33.

EFEHIRAO B SR HIFESS o
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PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD

e BB AN

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

11. BRRER

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THILAEA

2009 2008
“EENE —EEN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET TET
(unaudited)
(REER)
Profit for the period has been arrived B % 71| 2 4Rk
at after charging (crediting): (Gt A) THREBEEET
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) BEEHM (M 12) 2,471 516
Other staff costs HMETHA 10,537 9,724
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, RNRRIGT 8 5%
excluding those of directors (TEEZEES) 1,297 883
Total staff costs BImARE 14,305 11,123
Auditor’s remuneration 12 2R % B 1,700 1,575
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments ANEESEE 1,730 800
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% ~ BE kR EITE 6,690 5,265
Depreciation of investment properties REMERE 19 9
Listing expenses EmRAxX 14,898 —
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment HENE  BERREEBR = 32
Operating lease rentals paid in RNt/ E SERN:Y
respect of rented premises REMERS 10,438 6,335
Net exchange gain B 3 % R (1,270) (20,378)

Note:

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 and 2008, cost of inventories recognised as an

expense approximates cost of sales as shown in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

fi

REE-ZZNFR-TT/\FRA=TAHLL
ANEA EERBANNEFERALGA2E
Wess R RO HE K AHEE ©
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EHZE—

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors

ZENFRA=TRIEANEAR

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors for the period are

12. EERESHH
Ex

REBHRCNESHFMFEDT

as follows:
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme Share-
allowances contributions based
Fees FeR RIKER payment Total
ok Hib2a FEMR  URGXA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
Six months ended BZE-ZThEXRA
30 June 2009: =+HIEAEA -
Executive directors: WiEE:
Mr. Chun Chi Wai RERELE — 216 — 231 447
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang ZRERE — 103 — 62 165
Mr.Wong Hok Leung FTEREE — 1,500 6 23| 1,737
Non-executive directors;  FFHITES :
Mr. Chan Lu Seng* BRRELAE* — — — ) 15
Mr. Chan Kam Hung* BR 8 0 S A * — — — 5 5
Mr. Leung Chong Shun* BB 4 * — — — 15 15
Ms, Lai Wun Yin RRER L — — — 77 77
— 1,819 6 646 2,471
Six months ended 35_:53)\5?
30 June 2008 ~A=TH
(unaudited): ~MEA (*?&%V)
Executive directors: HITESE
Mr. Chun Chi Wai REEELE — 216 — — 216
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang ZEELE — 17 — — 17
Mr. Wong Hok Leung FTERKLE — 282 — 283
Non-executive director: ERITEE
Ms. Lai Wun Yin RABL+ — — — — —
— 515 | — 516
*  Independent non-executive directors * BUFRITEZR

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd) 12. EEREEFH (&)
Employees B8
Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, the number of directors and AEELUGRFMALY  EFRE
employees are as follows: BHAZMAT

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

2009 2008
“2RAEF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET
(unaudited)
(R&&ERZ)
Directors - 2 2%
Employees E& 3 3
5 5
# [t includes a director who was appointed on 28 May 2008 and received # BRE-—ER-ZENFRA-T/\AE
emoluments of approximately HK$2 19,000 for the period from | January 2008 to ZENEZ B-TT\E-A—-HE
27 May 2008 as an employee. “ZETN\FRA-+tAH HERESR

BT ER Y % & 4 5219,0008 7T °

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited 79
Interim Report 2009



£1T|".r Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

an\ o 7M’77 #&i‘i W it

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Contd) 12. EEREEFH (&)
Employees (Cont'd) B& (&)
The remuneration of the directors are set out above while the remuneration NEZEFHMEEN EXMERAL
of the remaining individuals are as follows: HMEmT

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

2009 2008
ZRRAF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TERT
(unaudited)
(K& &ER)
Salaries and other allowances e KE A 2ES 117 1,020
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R H B 32 18
Share-based payment PARR 9 % 7 150 —
1,299 1,038
Note: The emolument of each of the above employees is below HK$ [,000,000. P« M EEEE M E9ER1,000,000%
T o
No directors waived any emoluments in the six months ended 30 June 2009. BEESRHZE-_ZETNFSA=THLERE

AREEEAME -

13. DIVIDEND 13. K&
No dividend was paid or proposed during the six months ended 30 June 2009 REZE_EZNEAA=ZTHLEAER
(six months ended 30 June 2008 (unaudited): Nil). TELNIBRRE (BE_ZTNEX

RA=1TBLERER (REER) : 8) -
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to

owners of the Company is based on the following data:

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZE—

14. BREF

EXAREERM

| o o

TENFRAZTRILAER

BTIIBBAEARAREE ARESK

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLAMEA

2009 2008
ZEThF —ETN\E
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FTET
(unaudited)
(REER)
Earnings: B
Profit for the period attributable ARRERAEGEBHNEM
to owners of the Company for the (AUt EERK
purposes of basic and diluted EXAREHERN)
earnings per share 188,748 139,415
Number of shares: BOEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary IniEFHE R 2 A
shares for the purposes of (AUt EER
basic and diluted earnings per share EXAREERF) 715,165,746 699,998,808

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of
basic earnings per share for the six months ended 30 June 2008 has been
adjusted for the 699,899,999 shares issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue

(see note 35(i)), which was assumed to occur at | January 2008,

The computation of dilutive earnings per share does not take into account the RN

Warrants as set out and defined in note 32 and share options as detailed in

note 40(a) as they are not dilutive.

—A—R#f -

REAERE_STN\FAA=TAHL
NEASRERRNNNEFSEBR
BB CRARBEAECETEAH
699,899,999 B% 17 #
35(i) - BALEITRR

T2 (AME
RER_TTNF

ARBEERBRELEEEER
ST E SN E 2 F B IR AT AT E32FT

B R KO SBICHE B N B Ao (FRIB LI

#40(a) °
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZ=ZZTNAF A A=+HIE~EA

I5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 1% - BERRE

Machinery,
furniture,

fixtures and

Construction Leasehold equipment
in Motor  improvements CER
Buildings progress vehicles HE B Total
BT ERIR RERE NELE RERRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT FET TAT FAT FAT
COST A
At | January 2008 RZZETNE—RA—H 12032 335 16,173 761 50,028 79,329
Exchange realignment B A 732 120 1,081 28 3,080 5,041
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y& — I B A A
(note 36) (FizE 36) — — 757 — 739 | 496
Additions AE 3,895 8,592 2753 2487 23461 41,188
Disposals & — — (4,300) — ) (4,302)
Reclassified as investment  EFDEARE
properties (note 16) ¥ (M 16) (1,940) — — — — (1,940)
At 31 December 2008 R_BEENEF
+ZA=+—H 14719 9,047 16,464 3276 77,306 120812
Additions AE 849 3,605 163 — 3,385 8,002
At 30 June 2009 RZZTAFRA=TH 15568 12,652 16,627 3276 80,691 128,814
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2008 RZZENF-A-B 27 — 10,150 175 16,202 29,259
Exchange realignment Rk 185 — 677 — 953 1815
Provided for the year EREE 698 — 2375 219 7,720 11,012
Eliminated on disposals & i34 — — (3,670) — — (3,670)
Reclassified as investment  EF AR AREWE
properties (note |6) (3% 16) (141) = — — — (141)
At 31 December 2008 R_BEENEF
+=A=+-H 3474 — 9,532 394 24,875 38,275
Provided for the period ~ ERRIATIE 715 — 834 307 4834 6,690
At 30 June 2009 ZZEAEARAZTA 4189 — 10,366 701 29,709 44965
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 30 June 2009 RZFEAFRA=ZTA 11379 12,652 6,26 2,575 50982 83,849
At3| December 2008  RZZTNF
+=-A=1-H 11,45 9,047 6932 2,882 52431 82,537
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

I15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

After considering the estimated residual values, the above items of property,

plant and equipment other than construction in progress are depreciated on a

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

15. 9% - BER®RE (B)

REBMHFEE LAYE  BERR
BERA (ERITREN DUEREET
DEFRFE -

Buildings 20 - 50 years or over the lease term of BT 20% 504F 3 4R 7 £ 3 &9
the relevant land, whichever is shorter MERR (AREERE)
Motor vehicles 20% "B 20%
Leasehold improvements 4% or over the term of the relevant HEME 4%k 18 B EHARR (AR
lease, whichever is shorter K RERE)
Machinery, furniture, fixtures 10% - 20% W R 10%E20%
and equipment RERSZE
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REME
HK$’000
THERT
COST ZES
At | January 2008 R-ZZEZENF—H—H —
Reclassified from property, plant and equipment (note |5) BYE BERREENHE (KT 15) 1,940
At 31 December 2008 and 30 June 2009 RZZEZNF+=ZA=1+—H
—EENERNAZ=TH 1,940
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2008 R-ZZEZENF—H—H —
Reclassified from property, plant and equipment (note |5) BYE BERREENHE (KT 15) 141
Provided for the year FAETR 29
At 31 December 2008 RZBENF+-_A=1—H 170
Provided for the period HINETiR 19
At 30 June 2009 RZZEZNFAR=TH 189
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 30 June 2009 RZZEZNFA=TH 1,751
At 31 December 2008 R-FBEN\F+-A=1—H 1,770

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

16.

SR ERME

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

The fair value of the Group's investment properties (including the
corresponding leasehold land interests with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$3,221,000) at 31 March 2009 was HK$9,700,000. The fair
value has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by Vigers Appraisal
and Consulting Limited, independent professional valuers not connected with
the Group. The valuation was determined by reference to recent market prices
for similar properties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
valuation at 31 March 2009 is not materially different from that at 31
December 2008 and 30 June 2009.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the cost model

and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The above investment properties are erected on land held under long leases in
Hong Kong and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over approximately 46

years.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

16. REYE (&B)

RZZFZNF=A=1+—0 ~£EK
EVE (BREREELNR3,221,0008 T
MEHEEELHRERZ) NAREAR
9,700,000 7T » AR EHEREEHE
EEERARA A (EAR BN EHE
B ZEMERM) MENBESE - f
BH2EZEUMENTATEETE - KX
NRIEERR  —ETNF=RA=1+—
ARMFEER-_SEN\F+_A=+—H
R—EENFEAA=THNGHEAETES
REE o

AEERBREHERFURDES X
AEEARENRENXERIRBAAK
MMEBRAFE - WIHEREDMEASR -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. ANHEER
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008
R=ZZENF R_ZTN\F
AA=tR +TZA=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FTET
The prepaid lease payments comprise BANHERBERE L
leasehold land
- in Hong Kong held under long leases —REBRRIHEERS 3,221 3,256
- in the PRC held under medium leases —RPERPHHEERS 95,631 98,193
98,852 101,449
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HRREENATA :
Current asset mE & E 4,407 3,460
Non-current asset FRBEE 94,445 97,989
98,852 101,449

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE FROM AN 18. R & ATIMMER EUE & 1 T

ASSOCIATE ;E
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008

R-Z2BRE RZZFTN\HF
ARE+H TZA=1+-H

HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TET
Cost of unlisted investment N =N F i)
in an associate (note) REKAK (M) 87,130 53519
Share of post-acquisition reserves, FEIE N B A
net of dividends received MERE WS 9,426 13,527
96,556 67,046
Note: Included in the cost of unlisted investment in an associate at end of the reporting iz MEMEEH RELRFMIEEL
period is goodwill arising on acquisition of approximately HK$9,237,000. MREXATBERBEEENR

249,237,000/ 7T
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BHZEZZTAFA=THIEXEA

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE FROM AN 18.

ASSOCIATE (Cont'd)

Details of the Group’s associate are set out in note 43.

RBEARNER BRBEQT
RE (8)
A BB AR SR M 43 -

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-interest bearing and FUBEARIRBRAEER 28 KA
repayable on demand. RERBER -
The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of the Group's REBHE DR ERE B E Rt a0
associate is set out below: T
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008
R-BBhF R-ZEENF
AA=+H +TZA=t+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TET
Total assets BERE 197,642 139,505
Total liabilities BREEH (3,598) (11,040)
Net assets BEFE 194,044 128,465
The Group's share of net assets of an associate ANEEEMEEARMNEEFE 87,319 57,809

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEAEA

2009 2008

ZEENF —ETN\E

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER TERT

(unaudited)

(REER)

Revenue WA 16,312 16,937

Profit for the period B A 3,076 2,262
The Group’s share of result of AEEEGBEDRNAAEE

an associate for the period 1,384 1,018
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA
19. INVENTORIES 19. &

At At

30 June 31 December

2009 2008

R-ZBERE N —TENE

AA=Z+H +-A=1+-8H

HK$000 HK$'000

THT TET

Raw materials GVRs 449,44| 215,675
Finished goods SUPK an 92,450 41,861
541,891 257,536
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZ=ZZTNAF A A=+HIE~EA

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS 20 BERHMERRERERS
The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days to its AEE-RAEIEPRMHENTIORE
trade customers. The aged analysis of the Group's trade receivables, presented WRHTHEESR - AEERKE SN
based on the invoice date, is as follows: BEORE SN (RERBHE5) 0T
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008

R-BENE R-_ZZTN\F
AAZtHE +Z-A=+—H

HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TERT
Trade receivables: FEW & 558

0 - 30 days 0Z30K 578,923 425213
31 - 60 days 312 60K 475,794 316,600
61 - 90 days 61 290K 351,097 27,002
91 - 120 days 91 £120K 433,849 3,185
121 - 180 days 121 £ 180 & 163,168 —
Over 180 days B 180 X 256 256
2,003,087 772,256

Other receivables and deposits: Hit e B R RE :
Deposits and prepayments e RERMNK 18,264 18,099
Deposits paid for purchase of raw materials REBERMEENNES 119,022 39,601
Other taxes recoverable H fth BT Y [ 552 18 75,818 5,070
Others Hity 6,947 547
220,051 63,317
2,223,138 835,573
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS (Cont'd)

The above trade and other receivables of the Group that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities

are set out below:

ESREMBUERES (B)

b B RO A DA S
SEHAEER SR AENRERS]
M -

HKD equivalent of

BRIHEE
usD RMB
En AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAET
As at 31 December 2008 RZEZENF+_R= 30,187 13,533
As at 30 June 2009 R-ZBEAFARA=TH — 96,758

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and

scoring attributable to customers are reviewed regularly.

No impairment loss is provided for the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired because these receivables are within credit period granted
to the respective customer and the management considers the default rate is

low for such receivables based on historical information and past experience.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers
any change in credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was
initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. In view of the good
settlement history and substantial subsequent settlement from those debtors
of the Group which are past due but not impaired, the directors consider that

no allowance is required.

REREAHES2H - ARBEHS
BEZPHEREERAREEFNE
HRE  LREBERAEPHRE

5 -

BEEF AR B S ARBENERE SR
BREODREBEEE HAZFEER
HERERRFPERNEERZA - &
EERARENELEHRBERR %
FRIFRBANHREER -

NHETE W E 5 SR M AL 1B - K
SEEZEARTREEERANEERE
HELIEREZRAENEEERNE
g ARAKERHAHD BRERE
ERRYNE 5 FARE R &K Ex A
REREBEEERENEHE  EFARE
BIEHEAE -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 #HZ=

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS (Contd)

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

20. EZRAEMERRERES ()

EBHERRENEKEZRENR
ol

At At

30 June 31 December

2009 2008

R-ZBHF RZBENF

AA=+H +TZA=t—H

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER TERT

31 - 60 days 312 60K 725 316,600
- 90 days 61 290K — 27,002

91 - 120 days 91 £120 K 433,849 3,185
121 - 180 days 121 £ 180 & 163,168 —
Over 180 days 88 180 X 256 256
597,998 347,043

The Group does not hold any collateral over the above balances.

21. BILLS RECEIVABLE

The amount mainly represents bills receivable already discounted to banks
with recourse with a maturity period of less than 180 days. These receivables
at end of the reporting period are not yet due and the management considers
the default rate is low based on past experience that the Group seldom
encounters default on bills. The Group retains all the risks and rewards of such
discounted bills receivable and accordingly, the Group continues to recognise
the full carrying amount of such bills receivable and has recognised the cash

received on such discount as secured discounted bills in note 28.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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21.

AEEYER - AR ERMER

]
g °

e

ZHEFEERNB0ORATH A RITMNA
BRENDHRRRER - ZFRKT
ERBEHETERERAIY  BRE
RRENAEEREELBLEBAR
MRER  WHERAEEE - AEERSB
EZSCHARKEENZHER R
W Bt AEEEERRZSRENR
SENEREHREE  YEBKZSH
BAGReBRAAM T 28NN EHE AR
BER-



22.

23.

24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZZ

AMOUNT DUE FROM A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

As at 3| December 2008, the receivable arose from temporary fund transfers
which were non-trade in nature. The amount was unsecured, non-interest
bearing and fully recovered during the current period. The outstanding balance
as at 31 December 2008 was also the maximum amount outstanding during

the year then ended and the current period.

DEPOSIT PAID TO A RELATED PARTY
The amount represents a rental deposit paid to secure the lease agreement
entered into between the Group and a company wholly-owned by Mr. Chun, a

director of the Company, as the landlord.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives not under hedge accounting:

22.

23.

24,

30 June 2009

an\ A E?f 173 ﬁ i'% W E\E

ZZNFRAZTRILAER

Bl —frZRRRAE

RZZZENF+ZA=+—0  #%EK
IEE.EHDHTé ﬁ?ﬁéﬁﬁ?i %3'5%3

SHE - ZFEREER 2ERER
AH2HEZE - R_TTN\FF+ZA=
T-HOARERSBE (TREEZADLE
FERTBNRERAEESE) E2HK
] o

XNHF-2HEALNES
ZRANERERASERARAES
REERERAENDAE (ERET) ZH
AIVMBERZEMXMOEERS -

fTE€MIA

WIREHEHERENITAETA ¢

At
31 December 2008

R-BBNE R-_ZZTNF
~AA=+AH TZR=+—H
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE 2 BE a5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TET TET
Fair value of: NTEENARE :
Future contracts on EEeBHEEN
non-ferrous metals 476 6,903 1,446 127

The Group uses future contracts to reduce its exposure to the price risk of
non-ferrous metals. The future contracts are actively traded in the market and
measured at their fair values at end of the reporting period, with gain or loss

recognised directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

AEEEAPERNREREEEEEE
BER HESORME ERREER
RBEENTHEBERAAENE  HAH
R 2ERERNERERD -
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SR ERME

TZNFRAZTRIEAEAR

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Major terms of these contracts are set out below:

At 31 December 2008

Contracted future price

HESNER

Copper future contracts:
HHEEH

Sell at RMB24,267 per tonne

RENEAR#24,2677T 55 H

Sell at USD .85 per pound
REE1.855% U

Sell at prices, ranged from
USD3, 130 to USD4,240 per tonne
R T80 3,130 XL E 4,240 X0 i

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

Standard trading unit

BREXZEM

5 tonnes
5

25,000 pounds
25,0008

25 tonnes

25 [

24,

Unit bought
CREEM

65

fTHEEMIA ()
HERNNEZGRAEIMT

R-ZEENE+ZA=1+—H

Maturity

38R

IS5 January 2009
—ZTNF—H+AH

27 March 2009
—“TTZAF=ZA-++H

Ranged from
4 February 2009
to |6 March 2009
B-TTNF_AMA
E-TTAF=RA+AXA
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At 30 June 2009

Contracted future price

ARMEER

Copper future contracts:

HHERH -

Buy at prices, ranged from
RMB39,630 to RMB40,547 per tonne
NI TR AR 39,630 7T
EARM40547TEA

Sell at USD227 per pound
NEBE227E TG

Buy at USD4,270 per tonne
MNERE4,270% T E A

Sell at prices, ranged from
USD4,415 to USD5,050
per tonne

RN F&RA4,4155% 7T £5,0505 TTof

Aluminium future contracts:

HHERY

Sell at RMB12,993 per tonne
A K%12,993 7004

Zinc future contracts:

HYERY -

Sell at prices, ranged from
RMB13,206 to RMB13,556
per tonne

R EHEA R %13,2067T
EARM13,5567T04 H

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Standard trading unit

BREXZEN

5 tonnes

58
25,000 pounds

25,000%8

25 tonnes
258

25 tonnes

2505

5 tonnes
BB

5 tonnes

5l

an\ =] E?f 17 #Kﬁ% W R

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

4. fTEERMIA (F)
R=BBAEARAZTH

Unit bought Maturity
EREEN HHA
65 Ranged from
I5 July 2009 to

|7 August 2009
B-ETNAFEATAA
E-FTAFN\A+LH

4 30 September 2009
“EFAFAAZTA

2 29 July 2009
“ZETNFLA=t+NH

73 Ranged from
I8 August 2009 to
|5 September 2009
B-EFAFNATNR

E-FTNAFNATARA
10 |5 September 2009
“EENAFARATERA
240 Ranged from

|5 September 2009
to |5 October 2009
B-ETNAFAATER
E_TTAFTATEHA
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZ=ZZTNAF A A=+HIE~EA

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to secure the general
banking facilities granted to the Group or as customs security. All deposits are
pledged to secure short-term facilities and therefore, classified as current

assets.

The pledged bank deposits of the Group carry interest at the following fixed

interest rates:

25.

EERARTER
BERRTERENASEERN R
BROTRERERTFPERMARTER
W o EGFREEERAREEY
BE Bt ORBEARDEE -

AEERERRITHERZATEEMNE
AR

At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008

R-BEAE  H-22NF
ABZtR tZA=t-H

Range of interest rates per annum FR =& E

1.98% to 4.14% 1.00% to 4.14%
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank

deposits with maturity of three months or less.

Restricted bank deposits represent deposits placed with financial institutions to
secure the margin accounts of the Group for trading future contracts in the

relevant financial institutions.

The above bank balances and cash and restricted bank deposits of the Group
that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the

relevant group entities are set out below:

26.

BTERRES ZRHUBTER
BOEBREASOREASERFNRS
R =18 Az =18 A LR EIH R 2 B3R
TER -

RRFRTEREFRREREENTF
o NBAARERNEHERBEERY
EANNREGP ORHEER -
TRAFREEERDEERNINE
AENASERTESR RS LXK
ROTFREIMT

HKD
equivalent
of USD
BRNEE HKD
Ey BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
As at 31 December 2008 R-_FENF+-A=t—H 13417 663
As at 30 June 2009 R=ZEBAFRAZ=TH 3,604 10,198
The bank deposits of the Group carry floating rate interest at the following SENRITEREATFBMNEG
rates: B
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008
R-ZENE —TTNF
~A=tH +:HE+*H
Range of interest rates per annum FH=EE 0.01% to 1.15% 0.01% to 4.8%
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZ=ZZTNAF A A=+HIE~EA

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND BILLS PAYABLE 27. ESREMERRERESERE
AEEEMNESTHENRE DN (REE
BEZ7) T :

The aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables, presented based on

the invoice date, is as follows:

At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008

R=ZZZh&E RZZBENF
~A=tE +-A=t+-8

HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT TERT

Trade and bills payables: JERTE S FIE
0 - 30 days 0Z230K 424,169 12,425
31 - 60 days 31EB0K 275,568 5729
61 - 90 days 61 290K 137,708 1122
91 - 120 days 91 £120K 70,701 520
121 - 150 days 121 & 150 X 30,524 —
Over 150 days BB 1650 X 36,581 195
975,251 19,991

Other payables: Hofth B ROB
Accruals AT &R 8,253 7,008

Payables for acquisition of BEWE BE
property, plant and equipment R A 6 15 TR IE 2,454 2,830
Deposits received from customers BEREFES 52,607 15,829
Other taxes payable H At fE T 5008 1,494 4224
Others Hfty 12,323 2,448
77,131 32,339
1,052,382 52,330
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND BILLS PAYABLE (Contd)

28.

The above trade and other payables and bills payable that are denominated in

a currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities

are set out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (IR
A B EmR |

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HBZ=ZZTNFNA=+HIE~EA

27. ESRHMWEARERENRRE
(%)

TXEIIU LN EBEEER S
PAONERSTENE S R EMENKIER
e 24 :

HKD
equivalent
of USD
BTINEE
EY
HK$'000
TET

As at 31 December 2008
As at 30 June 2009

RZZEENF+-_A=+—H
R-ZBEAEANAZ=TH

1,404
15118

DISCOUNTED BILLS

The amounts represent the Group's bank borrowings secured by bills
discounted to banks with recourse (see note 21). The ranges of effective

interest rates per annum in respect of the Group's discounted bills with 21)

recourse are as follows:

28. BAREE
BREBTEAEERTHABREMN
HEEBERAORTER (RHE

- AEEHABRENHEZENE

BEFXHEDT :

At At

30 June 31 December

2009 2008
R-ZZNE —EEN\F
AA=TH +:ﬂ =t—H

Effective interest rates per annum

1.30% to 4.00% 3.85% to 6.04%
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZ=ZZTNAF A A=+HIE~EA

29. AMOUNTS DUE TO MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS OF 29. ERKHIBARLVERERE

SUBSIDIARIES
As at 3| December 2008, the payables arose from temporary fund transfers, RZZFENF+_A=1+—0 %ZE
which were non-trade in nature. The amounts were unsecured, non-interest NRBEAGSEEEBRMES B
bearing and fully settled during the current period. BOME  ZEXBREER 28R
ERAMEHESE

As at 30 June 2009, the balance represented rental payable to a minority RZZZENFAA=1TH  HRREN
shareholder of a subsidiary. The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and MEARLBERREEE - ZNER/EE
repayable on demand. . %,§\&¢§ﬁéxﬁzﬁv1§@ 2

30. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR 30. BNESHE
The payable arose from temporary fund transfers, which were non-trade in ZENFEDRGREERMESL
nature. The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and fully settled BHEFINE - ZRBREEAF 28
during the current period. RERAH2HAEE -
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31. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS 3. AEARTER
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008
R-EENE R-TENF
AA=tH tZA=t1—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti#n TET
Fixed-rate borrowings: EREN
Bank loans RITER 132,398 59,802
Variable-rate borrowings: FRER
Bank loans RITER 17,455 76,437
Bank overdrafts RITEX — 3,334
Trust receipt loans ERREER 31,968 —
181,821 139,573
The maturity of the above loans EERRE X
and overdrafts is as follows: B RWT
On demand or within one year REREH—FN 177,457 128,664
In more than one year but —FRETEBMT
not more than two years 4,364 10,909
181,821 139,573
Less: Amount repayable on demand B REREEEK
or within one year R—FRFEILFIA
shown under current liabilities MEBEEN SR (177,457) (128,664)
Amount due after one year —F RPN S HE 4,364 10,909
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

31. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS (Contd) 31. BEARTER (B)
The Group’s variable-rate borrowings are mainly subject to interest at Hong AEENFEEREIEREELABAR
Kong Interbank Offered Rate or London Interbank Offered Rate plus a spread, AREFEMNF1.75%E3%MEE -
ranging from 1.75% to 3%, Prime Rate of the relevant bank in Hong Kong or FEEMBRTNEBMRHHEARR
105% or | 10% of The People’s Bank of China Base Lending Rate. The ranges of AEEERFIEM105%HK110% 5 °
effective interest rates per annum on the Group's bank borrowings are as AEERTEFNERFENZHEN
follows: %
At At
30 June 3| December
2009 2008
R-ZZNE R-_2FEN\F
AA=+tH tZA=t1—H
Effective interest rates: ERFI=
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMER 3.44% to 6.14%  3.77% to 7.84%
Variable-rate borrowings FRER 1.85% to 5.67%  2.73% to 6.74%
The above Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other FARBEEEREER NG
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below: AHENAEERITERSINOT
HKD
equivalent
of USD HKD
BTNEE
Eye BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT
As at 31 December 2008 R-EENF+_A=1+—H 38,220 14,110
As at 30 June 2009 R-EBAERA=TAH 66,297 —
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32. SECURED GUARANTEED SENIOR NOTES

On 23 October 2007 (the “Issue Date"), the Group issued US$80,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$624,000,000) 8.5% guaranteed senior notes
to a group of institutional investors not related to the Group at a par value of
US$500,000 each (the “Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes bear coupon
interest at 8.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears and are
denominated in USD. The Senior Notes are secured by substantially all the
assets of the Group outside of the PRC and the entire issued shares of the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Senior Notes are also
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company. Under the indenture
governing the Senior Notes (“Indenture”), the Group is mandatorily required
to redeem the Senior Notes in cash on 23 October 2009, being the maturity
date of the Senior Notes, or upon the listing of the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing”), whichever is the earlier. The above pledges and
guarantees will also be released upon Listing. The redemption is at the Senior
Notes redemption price equal to 100% of the principal outstanding amount of
the Senior Notes as of the date fixed for redemption, together with accrued

interest to the next interest payment date.

In connection with the issuance of the Senior Notes, the Group also issued
one warrant per Senior Note totalling 160 warrants (“Warrants”) to the
holders of the Senior Notes. The Warrants entitled the holders to put the
Warrants to the Group at the agreed Warrants redemption price (see the
table set out below) upon (i) a primary public offering of the listing of shares
of the Company on an internationally recognised stock exchange acceptable to
the holders of the Senior Notes, which included the Stock Exchange (the
“Qualified IPO™); (ii) if Listing shall not occur on or before the date that is 24
months after the Issue Date; or (iii) if any event of default as detailed in the
Indenture shall occur under the Senior Notes (such date that is the earlier to
occurrence of (i) and (ii)) (hereinafter (i) to (iii) are referred to as “Warrants

Redemption Date").

32.

EREERELRE
R-EE+FE+A-+=B([%77RH
$])  AEER—HEAEETEHE
KO 48 1% & & %1780,000,000% ¢ (10 &
7 #)624,000,0007% 1) 8.5% A E R B %
Zi% - BHEEA5S00,000% T ([BEE
Bl - ZBROBFSEXRE85% - AR
SEFIHMEI - WAETIHE - B
REBUASBERFESRINBREH
BERADARARAAETHELARAZ
BEBTRODEER - KRATETHE
RANMABEZBREER - BERE
BEZENZLN ([RL]) - AEBER
—ETAF+AZ+=H AEAZEE
HA)RARARMORBERA LT ([ L
M)k UREERE) UREEOEL
FE o N EERRERTER EHER
B BEZEBBEEEREARELRE
RAREE100%ER T—EF 2321 B H
B fEmBERBREOERETHE
[E] o

RETEEZERENS  AREFCZAE
FREBRFEAEITE £1600) BB E
(BREARE-OHRBESR) ([BikE
&)  RBREEETRERAA  RIOK
RABNEREREERAANRXNE
RRAEZFL S (BRBRA) LM
BERCHEE([AERERAHE
B1) ¢ (i RBERNETT B HIRM2418 A
BRI CALT  RiHELEBIRE
BTEMEOZMN GFRARRELN)
REAE AR B () RRETREHELE
B2E) (()VZ(Gi)E X fE e A A))
B EHEORKEEREDER (LT
F)AARBELRRER -
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32. SECURED GUARANTEED SENIOR NOTES (Cont'd)
At the election of each holder of the Warrants, the Warrants may be either (a)
cash settled or (b) equity settled, during the 24 months after the Issue Date

upon the Qualified IPO in the following manner:

(@)

Cash settled of Warrants

The Group shall redeem the Warrants for a price equal to the

redemption price as follows:

Warrants Redemption date

AREEEDA S

On or before the date that is 6 months

after the Issue Date

RETEHRMABAEBRZA

After the date that is 6 months after the
Issue Date but on or before the date
that is 12 months after the Issue Date

RETEBBBAEAERRER
FOTRHRR T _EAERIZA

After the date that is |2 months after
the Issue Date but on or before the
date that is |8 months after the Issue Date
RETHHZH T —EAEERER
ETRBEH T \EAERIZA

After the date that is |8 months
after the Issue Date but on or before
the date that is 24 months after the Issue Date
RETRHEWNT\EAEREER
FTRHERR _THEAERRZA

On the date that is 24 months after the Issue Date
RETHBZB-_TEEAER

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited

Interim Report 2009

2. EABRRELRE (&)

FARTITARGERERARE

ﬁ%h%%ﬁﬁ%&%ﬂﬂwumﬁi

HBEHOEREER

(a) UREHEEIRER

*% EE IEI A HX ﬁé ;4; b

Warrants Redemption price

AREZHEDER

Number of Warrants x USD500,000 x 4.25%
RARFEFE B x 500,000 ETT X 4.25%

Number of Warrants x USD500,000 x 8.86%
AREFEEE x 500,000 % 7T X 8.86%

Number of Warrants x USD500,000 x 15.57%
AREEEE x 500,000 %7 X 15.57%

Number of Warrants x USD500,000 x 21.72%
R EFE S E x 500,000 E T X 21.72%

Number of Warrants x USD500,000 x 19.28%
ARHEEE B X 500,000 7T X 19.28%

REABRBESHBANESE - mh%

AEERREFNRTIIBLENE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BB AN

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

32. SECURED GUARANTEED SENIOR NOTES (Cont'd)

(b) Equity settled of Warrants
Within the 24 months after the Issue Date, holders of the Warrants are
entitled to receive shares of the Company in lieu of cash for the above
mentioned amounts calculated with reference to the offer price under
the Qualified IPO.

The Senior Notes are accounted for as financial liabilities which are carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the redemption feature of the
Warrants also represents the borrowing cost of the Senior Notes, which will
be incurred through with the passage of time. As a result, it is taken into
account in the calculation of effective interest of the Senior Notes. In addition,
the directors of the Company consider that the value of the conversion
options adhered to the Warrants is insignificant at the date of issue and at end

of each reporting period.

Upon Listing on 22 June 2009, the Group redeemed the Senior Notes
together with accrued interest to the next interest payment date and settled
the Warrants by cash at the Warrants redemption price as set out above. The
pledges and guarantees in relation to the issuance of the Senior Notes were

also released during the period following the redemption.

2. BRBRRELRE (&)

(b) MEHEHERDRER
RETHHE-_TOEAR - RK
EERBABEERAR A RN A
REZRAERBEROHBRENR

EEHENLASHERE -

BAERIIFERABAR LRBE
BRM) BOE DA S5 AN B o

ARAEERE  RBREENERES
TRERERNEBMBEEANBLER
BEERAE - Al R EBEREMN
ERFNEEETUERE - foh - AAH
EERRAMEEMM LB EERE
THUREREEAMBAET TEKX -

RZEBZEAFAAZTZHLEME - K
SEERNELAZBE(ERAT—EANERE
FAE) - iR E AR EE R E
WReBERREE - FHZRTELE
BREARERTE R ER &R 5B R7
B o
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32. SECURED GUARANTEED SENIOR NOTES (Cont'd) 3. EREERBARE (&)

The movements of the secured guaranteed senior notes of the Group are as AEERREEREAZENE SN
follows: %

HK$000

TET

At | January 2008 RZZEZNF—H—H 624,718
Interest charge MEEH 125,046
Interest paid 2ARHE (53,040)
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZNF+_A=+—H 696,724
Interest charge MEEH 111,001
Interest paid BERFE (26,520)
Redemption upon Listing P = T s i ) (781,215)
At 30 June 2009 R-ZZEBNFARAZ=TH —
The effective interest rate applied is 19.36% per annum. BN ERNEREF19.36% °
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

33. DEFERRED TAXATION 33. ELBIE
The deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and AEEREAR/ FARANELCHESR
movements thereon during the period/year are as follows: EREERELHMT -

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax losses Total
MEBERE REER Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
At | January 2008 RZEENE—HA—H 577 — 577
Charged (credited) for the year AERHE (B%) 366 (910) (544)
Effect of change in tax rate MEEPTE (33) — (33)
At 31 December 2008 RZBENEF+ZA=+—H 910 (910) —
Charged (credited) for the period BNt (He) I (I —
At 30 June 2009 R-BBAERNA=1AH 921 (921) -

At 30 June 2009, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$65,481,000 (31 December 2008: HK$40,661,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$5,583,000 (31 December 2008: HK$5,516,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately HK$53,535,000 that will
expire in various dates up to 2014. Other losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.

AZETNFAA=TH A5ETH
1’&%&%*%&%@ﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁmﬁ%ﬁai@
£65,481,0008 T (ZEENF+A=
+—H :40,661,0008 1) * ZEER
H#)4)5,583,0008 L (ZEENEF+=
A=+—8 : 5,516,000/ T) BRIET
RMEEE - AR REBIRTER - &
TEFESNTEBERRECHEE
E - ABRNBEBEBED
53,535,000 TH &R - HREZEZZ
—MFIFAIZE R BE S - b EEe
mRELEE -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

33. DEFERRED TAXATION (Contd) 33. EEBE (&)
Under the tax rules and regulations in the PRC, 10% withholding income tax is BB B BRI KRR P B
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned in year 2008 BARIRE ZZT\FRmRIAEF [
onwards to foreign investors for the companies established in the PRC. For NEREEERHREBEHEBRI10%
investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a preferential rate of 5% will be applied. MENAEH NEBEMALMNRE
Deferred tax has not been provided for in the consolidated financial FAZEEBERES% - HRNAKERE
statements in respect of the temporary differences attributable to such HEH LR EEAROREEEERESE
undistributed profits from PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately RA R RAE R ge MR B - #f M5
HK$81,841,000 (31 December 2008: HK$85,814,000) as the Group is able to % B MY 2 A B9 K 3 O Al 23 1B Y
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is ERE%481,841,0008 L (ZEENGF
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable +ZA=+—H :85,814,000 &) &
future. FEMBRETERTEHERE -
34. OTHER LONG-TERM PAYABLE 34. Rt RAENHKIE
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008

R-ZZZh&E RZZBENF
~A=tE +-A=t+-8

HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TERT

Total other long-term payable H R EAE N SR AEE 682 909
Less: current portion included B AR S REM

in trade and other payables JE T IR BN ER &R 93 (228) (227)

454 682

The amount represents payable for acquisition of property, plant and ZHEBREDE  BERREOEN
equipment which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable by TE - EER - AFE BEREBC
instalments in ten years commencing from the year 2003. TE-FRFTFADHEER -
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. B
Number
of shares Amount
RAEAR ¢ 8
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each: BREE 0.0001 /& T H) & EAK
Authorised: ETE
At | January 2008 and 3| December 2008 RZZEZNF—-—H—H
R=EENF+ZA=+—H 3,800,000,000 380,000
Increase on 22 May 2009 (note i) RZZETNEFRAZTZBEM
(P&ET) 6,200,000,000 620,000
At 30 June 2009 R-BEBAERA=TH 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRBREAR
At | January 2008 RZZEZENF—-—H—H 100,000 10
Issue of share on | February 2008 (note ii) RZZEENF_A—-BETKNR
(B=E i) _
At 31 December 2008 R-EENF+_A=1+—H 100,001 10
Capitalisation issue on 22 June 2009 RZZETZNFRAZTZAH 699,899,999 69,990
(note ) B ET (FE)
Issue of shares on 22 June 2009 (note iii) RZEZNFRAZTZH
BT (BHEE i) 300,000,000 30,000
Issue of shares on 30 June 2009 (note iv) RZZEZNFA~AZ1H
BORG (MEiv) 45,000,000 4,500
At 30 June 2009 R-EZAERA=TAH 1,045,000,000 104,500
HK$'000
TET
Shown in the consolidated Rz &M BRERANRAE
financial statements
As at 30 June 2009 R-ZBBEAEFRA=TH 105
As at 31 December 2008 R-EENF+_A=1+—H —
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EHZE—

BB RRM

ZENFRA=TRIEANEAR

35. SHARE CAPITAL (Contd)
Notes:

)

(i)

(i)

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the sole shareholder of the Company on
22 May 2009, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to
HK$1,000,000. The directors of the Company were also authorised to capitalise
the sum of HK$69,990 standing to the credit of the share premium account of
the Company by applying such sum in paying up in full at par 699,899,999 shares
for allotment and issue to Wellrun Limited, the then sole shareholder of the
Company. On 22 June 2009, the directors allotted and issued such shares as

aforesaid and gave effect to the capitalisation issue.

On | February 2008, | ordinary share of HK$0.000! was allotted and issued to
the then existing shareholder for a consideration of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$234,000,000).

On 22 June 2009, the Company issued 300,000,000 shares pursuant to the
Company's initial public offering at a price of HK$5.18 per share upon Listing.

On 30 June 2009, the Company issued 45,000,000 shares pursuant to the over-
allotment option as referred to in the prospectus of the Company dated 10 June
2009 at a price of HK$5.18 per share.

The new shares allotted and issued rank pari passu in all respects with other

shares in issue.

China Metal

Interim Report
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35. BA (&

M

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

HRDEMATEERMERT

BEARAE—RER-ZTNEAA
TTZHMEERER - ARAEER
A INZE1,000,00087T - RAAES
TEREBBEARAIRNEBENE
FR&%69,9908 TEAL  BRZES
BREERADRENAE—RRITE
BIRA B B % R #114£51699,899,999
RARIIERENRGD - RZZTTNEF
ANAZTZH  EERERETLEAZ
R - UEEREBITES

RZBEZNF=ZF—H  SKHEEN
A {E 30,000,000% 7t (1 & B &
234,000,000/ 7T) A % K 171 R E
180.000178& T/ &3 A%

—7 7%&/\)% + El Z’K T*E
BALNR FEEXAREERTRA
75.187% L % 17300,000,000/% B {7

RZZENFEANA=1H @ KRERE
ANRRHA-ZTNEAATHARBR
BP0 R FE AC AR 1 1R B AR AR 175.18
7 L8 1745,000,0008% A% 3 °

Bn &

R -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 36. WiE—EIHELF
In December 2007, the Group injected RMBI1,667,000 (equivalent to RZZEZLFE+ZR  AEBERRRB
approximately HK$12,412,000), representing 70% of the enlarged capital, to AMBEBRERAT (RKERMN])
Zhangjiagang Rongli Zaisheng Ziyuan Co., Ltd. (“Zhangjiagang Rongli”) as A AR 11,667,000 (1 E R4
capital injection. Since the control over Zhangjiagang Rongli was successfully 12,412,000 T - HEBARERET0%)
achieved on | January 2008, the Group accounted for the acquisition on that ERIE -HRE_ZTZENF—HA—H
date by using the purchase method of accounting. KBS HRX BB MEGE - A&
ERABESNEASZANRBAR -
The net assets acquired in the transaction are as follows: REZXSPUWENEEFENT
Acquiree’s

carrying amount
before combination

and fair value

WA
REBHATHY
SREE
RARE
HK$'000
TET
Net assets acquired: PR BEFE :
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE Rk 1,496
Inventories FE 2,935
Trade receivables ERE 5508 63,01 |
Bank balances and cash RITERRE S 14,030
Trade and other payables B 5 K E A ENRIE (53,139)
Amount due to a shareholder e — %R R A FIE (5,319)
Taxation payable ENHE (1,596)
21418
Minority interests LYBREE S (9,006)
Total consideration satisfied by RZZZLE+ZANEERRA
capital injection in December 2007 e ERE 12,412
Cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEmEENTR SR
Bank balances and cash acquired FrERMRITERERE 14,030
Zhangjiagang Rongli contributed revenue and a profit of approximately BE-_TZ N\FA A=THILEARER -
HK$936,873,000 and HK$4,292,000, respectively, for the six months ended 30 KK BB ME £ U E KM D R4 B
June 2008. 936,873,000/ 7T }24,292,000/8 7T °
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 37. BEEHN
The Senior Notes issued by the Group in 2007 as disclosed in note 32 were MR BN ARARIRN S LFH
secured by the entire issued shares and the assets of the Company and certain THEXRZEERARARETHELRR
of its subsidiaries. These pledges were released during the period following the HEHEETRN REEEER - %F
redemption of the Senior Notes. BHRENBOELERERARERR -
Save as disclosed above, the Group also had the following assets pledged to BrEXFESN  REBTEHUATE
banks to secure the general banking facilities granted to the Group or as EERTHRT  UERFEERKREH
customs security as at end of the reporting periods: AERN-—RRTBENERTFE
&

At At

30 June 31 December

2009 2008

R-ZBZRF R_EETN\F

ARA=tH TZA=+—H

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER TET

Investment properties REME 1,687 1,706
Prepaid lease payments ANEER 2,821 2,853
Bills receivable EBURE 166,065 304,601
Bank deposits RITER 64,870 72,455
235,443 381,615
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

38. OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee
Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the period are as

follows:

e BB AN

i
AEREEREBA

HARBLEHEENREREFHED

T

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEAEA

2009 2008

“EENE —EEN\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER FTET

(unaudited)

(REER)

Office and factory premises MRERBE 10,438 6,335

The Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable leases which fall due as follows:

AREBREN AT B E B H ) A A R

HEMARREREMNRNAZDT -

At At

30 June 31 December

2009 2008

R-ZBENF RZEEN\F

AA=tR +TZA=+—H

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER TET

Within one year —FR 20,539 21,308
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EEFLF (BHEAEMTF) 43,868 49,320
Over five years RENRE 78,378 78,395
142,785 149,023

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain
of its office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated for terms of fifteen to

twenty years and rentals are fixed during the lease period.

BEHENTEAREREETHAE
FEEEMNNHES KEBENEEFH

RTRAE-+F HEHRBESEE -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

38. OPERATING LEASES (Contd) 38. KEHE (B)
The Group as lessor FEBEREAA
Property rental income earned during the period is as follows: REAMRRM M ERSBMANT

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEAMEA

2009 2008

—EZhF —TTNF

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET TET

(unaudited)

(R&&EZ)

Rental income R ON 283 118
As at 30 June 2009, the Group’s investment properties have committed tenant —ETAFRAZTH  AEENR
for the coming nine months (31 December 2008: fifteen months). ﬁ%%ﬁf\%&jﬂlﬂ (ZEEN\E+ZA

=t—HB:+Th{ER)CEAHBP

The Group had contracted with the tenant for the following future minimum AEERHEMEPTAN BAZEMEER
lease payments: AT
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008
R=-ZBZhF RZZTNF
AA=+H +TZA=t—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAEL
Within one year —FR 402 567
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEFNE (BREEEMF) — 118
402 685
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EAREIE
At At
30 June 31 December
2009 2008
R-BEBRF N_ZTENF
AA=tR +TZA=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT TET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not BRI EL BN GRS B RE
provided in the consolidated financial NEENERRX -
statements in respect of:

- acquisition of property, plant and equipment  — WHEWE - BE K& HE 31,477 32,274
- addition of construction in progress - FRERIR 4,520 3,239
- acquisition of land use rights — W i A 23,352 30,180
59,349 65,693
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes

(@)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution of the sole shareholder of the Company
on 22 May 2009, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Scheme™) was adopted by the Company. Pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Scheme, the Company may grant options to any full-time or part-time
employees or potential employees, executives, officers or directors of the
Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies (“Eligible
Participants”) to subscribe for shares of the Company. The purpose of
the Pre-IPO Scheme is to recognise the contribution that Eligible
Participants made or may have made to the growth of the Group. It aims
to give Eligible Participants an opportunity to acquire a personal stake in
the Company and help motivate Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency, and also to help attract or retain Eligible
Participants whose contributions are important to the long-term growth

and profitability of the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted is 100,000,000 shares, representing approximately 5% of shares
of the issued share capital of the Company immediately upon Listing, but
excluding any shares which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of the
options granted or to be granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme, the other
schemes and shares that may fall to be issued upon the exercise of the

over-allotment option in connection with the Listing.

Options granted have to be taken up within a period of 60 days from the
date of offer upon payment of HK$ 1.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Cont'd)

(@)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont'd)

Share options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme are exercisable at the
initial offer price to the public (i.e. HK$5.18 per share). Each of the

holders of the share options under the Pre-IPO Scheme shall be entitled

to exercise his/her options in the following manner:

Period that share options can be

exercised after the date of Listing

Attaining | year
Attaining 2 years
Attaining 3 years

Maximum accumulated
percentage of

share options exercisable

33.33%
66.67%
100%

40. UBRHOXARS (&)
NESSEERRESS (B

(a)

BRARMEERREBE S (&)

REERARBFEANTER LR
BRERALARATEENEREE
B (ENBRRMDE.18ET)THE - &
RAFABEERMER T BBRES
BARBERUTTATREBER
1

REWEH% {TER
AATER fR#E By R &
BRESNR BOL LR

BAEIF 33.33%
BH2E 66.67%
#H3F 100%
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EHZE—

ZENFRA=TRIEANEAR

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)
Equity-settled share option schemes (Contd)
(@) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Contd)

40. UBRHBZARS (&)
NESSEEBRESS (8

During the period, 28,716,216 options were granted to Eligible

Participants under the Pre-IPO Scheme and the total number of shares

that can be issued upon the exercise of all options is 28,716,216 shares,

representing approximately 2.75% of the issued share capital of the

Company as at 30 June 2009. The estimated fair value of the options at

the date of grant is approximately HK$59,442,000. Details of the share

options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme, all of which remained

outstanding as at 30 June 2009, are as follows:

(a)

EPNGE S

ERBERE S (8)

HA + 28,716,2161 B IER B &
RARBEAAERTEEARSHE
AT - METEMA BRRER A %
T8 B 17 18 815 28,716,216/ i%
B BERREARZZEENFAAZ
+HEBIRAL2.75% - BRE
RELHBHENGEH2IALERN
59,442,000 - REE A AR E
ERFEREMR_ZEZNF A
=TRDEARTERN 2 PEREF
BT

Options

granted

during the
period and
outstanding as at

30 June 2009

RER
Category of Exercise RHERR
Eligible Participants price Exercisable Vesting R-BELE
REKSH Date of grant per share period date AB=+H
AT ER RHAH BRTEE oRid:t BEAH R AT RV IR IR A
Directors 19 June 2009 HK$5.18 22 June 2010 - 22 June 2010 5,405,404
B ZEENF 518 18 June 2017 —B-FF
NATRA —B-FF ~NAZ+Z=H
AAZtTZR=E
—tF
NATNR
23 June 2011 - 23 June 201 5,405,406
18 June 2017 —E——F
—B——f ANAZt+=H
AAZtT=RZE
—tF
NATAR
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 40. URBZHARES (B)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Cont'd) DRREEBRETE (2)

(@) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Contd) (a) BRAFREEAEREE (8)
Options
granted

during the
period and

outstanding as at
30 June 2009

RER
Category of Exercise RERR
Eligible Participants price Exercisable Vesting R-EZhE
CERSH Date of grant per share period date AA=tH
AT ER KA BROTERE e BEARE tef R 1T 6 B0 B AR
HK$
BT
Directors 19 June 2009 5.18 23 June 2012 - 23 June 2012 5,405,406
B% “TTRE 18 June 2017 —¥--F
AVzRWINE “TCF ~NAZ+T=H
AAZt+=RZE
—TtF
~ATAR
16,216,216
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)
Equity-settled share option schemes (Cont'd)
(@) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont'd)

40. UBRHBZARS (&)
NESSEEBRESS (8
(a) BRRFEEAERETS (F)

Options

granted

during the
period and
outstanding as at
30 June 2009

RER
Category of Exercise RERR
Eligible Participants price Exercisable Vesting R-ZEZNE
EEKSH Date of grant per share period date AA=tH
AT R RHBH BRITEE T FEAH tel K 17 G Y B AR 4
Employees under 19 June 2009 HK$5.18 22 June 2010 - 22 June 2010 4,166,666
continuous “TThEF 5.18 BT 18 June 2017 —E-EF
employment ~NATHH —T-TF NAZ+T=H
contract NAZTZHZE
EEERAHOR “E—t5F
THEE ~ATNR
23 June 2011 - 23 June 201 4,166,667
18 June 2017 —T——F
—T——F ~NAZt+Z=A
AAZT=RE
—T—tF
ANATNAR
23 June 2012 - 23 June 2012 4,166,667
18 June 2017 —T-CF
—F-—F ~NAZt+=R
AAZT=HRZE
—T—tF
ANATNAR
12,500,000
28,716,216

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd) 40. URBZHARES (B)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Cont'd) DRREEBRETE (2)

(@) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont'd) (a) BRARBEEINBRESE (B)
The fair value of the options was calculated using the Binomial model. BREALER_BAER - HE
The inputs into the model were as follows: HBARBQOT
Market price HK$5.18 miE 5.18% T
Exercise price HK$5.18 1TEE 5.1878 T
Expected volatility 48.25% K tE 48.25%
Contractual life 8 years BHFH 8%
Risk-free rate 1.986% BERAE 1.986%
Expected dividend yield Nil B EX &
Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the BitREERETUALRLEMA
stock return of certain comparable listed companies. HIRR 19 (B R E LR IBEE AT ©
The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the FTEEREARERANEERR
share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an BRESNRELEMT - BRE
option varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. BERETIERRNTRAZHM

BAARE -

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately HK$I,144,000 AEERHAREBEALRRES
for the period in relation to share options granted by the Company RAFBEERER L BREREDR
under the Pre-IPO Scheme. FX 5 491,144,000 T °
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Contd)

(®)

Share Option Scheme

Also, pursuant to a written resolution of the sole shareholder of the
Company on 22 May 2009, the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”)

was also adopted.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company may grant options to any full-time
or part-time employees, executives or officers including directors of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers,
consultants, agents and advisors (“Eligible Scheme Participants”) who, in
the sole opinion of the board of directors, will contribute or have
contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries. The Scheme is
a share incentive scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions Eligible Scheme Participants had or may
have made to the Group. The Scheme will provide Eligible Scheme
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company
with the view to motivating Eligible Scheme Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract and
retain or otherwise maintain on-going business relationships with Eligible
Scheme Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. The Scheme is valid and effective for a

period of |0 years upon Listing.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Cont'd)

(®)

Share Option Scheme (Cont'd)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of shares of the Company as of the date of the approval by the
shareholders in general meeting, without approval from the Company's
shareholders. The shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The maximum
number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each Eligible Scheme Participant in any twelve-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed % of the shares in issue as of

the date of grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of
their respective associates is required to be approved by the
independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent non-
executive director who is the grantee of the options). Where granting of
options to a substantial shareholder or any independent non-executive
director or their respective associates which will result in the number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to
be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the twelve-month period up to and including the date of
such grant exceed of 0.1% of the total number of shares in issue and
have an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000, based on the official
closing price of the shares at the date of each grant, such proposed grant
of options will be subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and

the approval of the shareholders in general meeting.

40. UBRHOXARS (&)
NESSEERRESS (B

(b)

BiER 8 (8)

BEZEETREMTENNE
BREMIEZETORNEE LR
A TEBBRENRREASHH
B ADRRD10% (BARDER
REUE) o ARETER AR L
RTEHERERBREZTE MK
T8+ DA A B4 ) L At B R 42
T8I T B8 B 1T B9 BRAD 7 fa B 1%
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AR+ —EABHEZRL B S
AR EZTERADREAE B
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TREMERE (BEETERER
IR BITEME BT RA
EHTETORNBHETEBAR
BREAHEETROMI% o

AAARESE TEARABHE
EZRR (TR LETHRA) SRS
B B {aT Bk 2 A B e B AR A
BRBNIENITES (TRERER
AR ANERBLENTES) it
o EREERERAMBILIEHR
TESHRSEZENEMHEAR
HERE - MaEALETERE
BRREERERE (BEEAFE B
T R R R AT (R AR ARAE) 18 1S B BN
+TEABHEERLBH (B
B BE) B BT REBTROMEH
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EHZE—

40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Contd)

ZENFRA=TRIEANEAR

Equity-settled share option schemes (Contd)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Contd)

Options granted have to be taken up within a period of 30 days from the

date of offer upon paym

The exercise price is determined by the board of directors and but in

any event shall not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange as
stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the
offer date, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is

open for the business of dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock

Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the offer

date; and

ent of HK$I.

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

Options granted are exercisable for a period to be notified by the board
of directors to each grantee and such period shall expire not later than
|0 years from the date of grant of options. No option has been granted

or agreed to be granted under the Scheme since its adoption.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at rate specified in the rules.
The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available

to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-managed
retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their basic
payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to

make the required contributions under the schemes.

41, BHRBAFE

AEERBEBRH M RE S SRO AR
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g ([eEEE]) - BRIFENEE
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

42. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

U

Related party transactions

During the period, the Group entered into the following transactions

with related parties:

42. BEATHE
() BEALXS
WA AEBEEEEALETT
K

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=tTHILAMEA

Class of related party Nature of transactions 2009 2008
BEALTHER REMHE —EENE —BBN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TET
(unaudited)
(REER)
An associate of the Group Port loading charges paid 769 17
REBBE N7 BNEOREER
A company wholly-owned
by Mr. Chun Rental expenses paid 346 —
RELREBANAT ENEERAX

In addition, Mr. Chun had given unlimited personal guarantees and

pledged a bank deposit to banks to secure general banking facilities

granted to the Group.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
Interim Report 2009

BN REERRITREEREA
ERRERRITER - AEREE
EERN—RRITHME -



42. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Contd)

(n

an

Related party balances

The Group had the following balances with related parties:

e BB AN

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

42,

HEALRE (&)

(I BEALHER

REBEGEATHOERTT

At At
30 June 31 December
Class of related party Nature of balances 2009 2008
BEALHER RERME R-BENE R-ZBNF
AR=tR +ZA=1—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
An associate of the Group Non-trade receivable 54 54
REBBERT FEUIEE 5 5R
Mr. Chun Non-trade payable — (2,219)
RELE EN3EESREA
Wellrun Limited Non-trade receivable = 771
HEERAR FEYIEE 5508
A company wholly-owned
by Mr. Chun Deposit paid 15 ['15
RELZERENAA EfRE

Compensation of key management personnel

The emolument of directors who are also identified as members of key

management of the Group is set out in note |2.

() FEEBEASHMH
EX(TAXEKENTIREEASR)
HOE N BN P RE12 -
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN ASSOCIATE 43. EBARIRBE ARINFEE
(I)  SUBSIDIARIES () MBI
Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries at 31 December 2008 and 30 AREMBRRR-ZTENFE+=
June 2009 are as follows: A=+—BE=_ZEENE A=
BE BN -
Proportion of nominal
Issued and value of issued
Place fully paid share/quota capital/
and date of share/quota capital/ registered capital
incorporation/ Form of registered capital  held by the Company
establishment business BRORBERE NGRS
Name of subsidiary B aye structure RERA,/ BBITRA/RERA, Principal activities
WEARER B B K B A ERRBHE HfMER EMEXEELA TEXH
Directly Indirect
B &
% %
Asia Steel (Holdings) British Virgin Limited liability US$200 100 — Investment holding
Limited Islands company 200 % 7T REER
N (ERR) 20 July 1999 BRAR
ARRAA RERAEE
—hhné
+tA=+AH
Asia Steel (HK) Hong Kong Limited liability HK$78,100,000 = 100 Investment holding
Limited 6 December 2000 company 78,100,000 78 7T REER
TMME (FE) s =1 NG
BRAT “TITH
+=AXA
Asia Steel (Investments) Hong Kong Limited liability HK$100,000 — 100 Investment holding
Limited I August 1999 company 100,000 78 7T REER
TMEE (IRE) s =1 NG
BRAT —ANF
NA+—R
Asia Steel (Development) Hong Kong Limited liability HK$100,000 — 100 Investment holding
Limited 4 June 1999 company 10,000 7T REER
TMEE (BR) s 1N
BRAT —hhns
NAMA

126  China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Cont'd) 43. WBARREE D RNFESE (&)
(I)  SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) (I MEBARE)

Proportion of nominal

Issued and value of issued
Place fully paid share/quota capital/
and date of share/quota capital/ registered capital
incorporation/ Form of registered capital  held by the Company
establishment business BROTRBERE ARBEE
Name of subsidiary S structure RERA, BBITRA/RERA, Principal activities
WEARER B MR B ERRBHE HfMES EMEXEELA TEXH
Directly Indirect
HE Bk
% %
Huan Bao Steel Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 — 100 Investment holding
RRMEER QA 7 August 1998 company 10,000 77T and collection
N5 BRRA processing and sale
—AANE of recycled scrap
NAtR metal
REZR
R EY - T R
HEMKESB
Central Steel Macau Limited liability MOP100,000 — 100 Metal trading
RERRM 21 March 2005 company 100,000 29T vEES
P BRRAA
—ETHF
ZA=t+-H
HREHEBERAR The PRC Wholly-foreign US$20,000,000 — 100 Investment holding
(Yangzhong Yagang |5 December 2006 owned 20,000,000 7T and collection,
Metal Co,, Ltd.) H enterprise processing and sale
ZEETREF IEBELE of recycled scrap
+=ZA+AaH metal
REZRK
I R I
HEDWEDE

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited 127
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For the six months ended 30 June 2009 EHZE—

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Contd)
SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

U

128

ZENFRA=TRIEANEAR

Place

and date of

Issued and
fully paid

share/quota capital/

Proportion of nominal
value of issued
share/quota capital/

registered capital

43. MBARRBEDANFER (B)
() WEAE (E)

incorporation/ Form of registered capital  held by the Company
establishment business BRORBERE NGRS
Name of subsidiary B aye structure RERA,/ BBITRA/RERA, Principal activities
WEARER B3 K B A ERRBME HfMER EMEXEELA TEXE
Directly Indirect
B &
% %
RETHHEER AR The PRC Wholly-foreign US$13,000,000 — 90385  Collection,
([RZDH]) 16 August 2006 owned (note) processing
(Tianjin Yatong Steel H enterprise 13,000,000 7T and sale of recycled
Co. Ltd) (“Tianjin ZETRF SNEBERE (B =E) scrap metal
Yatong') AV =] Bl T K
HERKESB
BMNEHEBERAA The PRC Wholly-foreign US$3,500,000 — 100 Collection
(Guangzhou Yatong) 25 May 2007 owned 3,500,000 & 7T processing
Metal Co, Ltd.) H enterprise and sale of recycled
e 3 IEBEDLE scrap metal
EA=+HE CIE QI3
HERWKRETE
J& M 35 8 The PRC Sino-foreign US$4,500,000 — 75 Collection,
(Guangzhou Asia Steel) I5 May 2001 owned 4,500,000 7T processing
HE enterprise and sale of recycled
—EEF NGB RE scrap metal
AA+THEH Eli - Ik
HEDWEDE
KRBT The PRC Limited liability RMB 6,667,000 — 70 Collection,
(Zhangjiagang Rongli) | December 2006 company ARE processing
i LN 16,667,000 7T and sale of recycled
—TER E scrap metal
+=ZA— Bl - TR
HEDWEDB

Interim Report 2009

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Qm
AP EmRMEE

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 BZE=—TTNAFAA=+HILAERA

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Cont'd) 43. WBARKRBE ARNFE (&)

SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

(I MEBIR (&)

Proportion of nominal

Issued and value of issued
Place fully paid share/quota capital/
and date of share/quota capital/ registered capital

incorporation/ Form of registered capital  held by the Company
establishment business BROTRBERE ARBEE
Name of subsidiary MK structure RERA BRITRERERA Principal activities
WEARER B MR B ERRBHE HfMES EMEXEELA TEXH
Directly Indirect
HE Bk
% %

F LT8R & B R The PRC Wholly-foreign US$10,000,000 — 100 Inactive
BERAR 3 September 2008 owned (note) AENEE
(TR LzEsR]) H enterprise 10,000,000 7T

(Zhongshan Yatong —EENEF SNEBERE (B &E)

Metal Materials Co, NA=R
Ltd.) (“Zhongshan
Yatong")

EROHEBEERRA The PRC Wholly-foreign RMB20,000,000 — 100 Inactive

(Ningbo Yagang Metal 4 September 2008 owned AR REANEL
Co, Ltd) # enterprise 20,000,000 7T

=ZT\E SEBELE
NAMAE

RERSBERAA The PRC Sino-foreign US$12,000,000 — 70 Inactive
(MR e ) 10 November 2008 owned (note) RIEANEBE

(Wuhan Yagang Metal H enterprise 12,000,000 37T
Co, Ltd)) (“Wuhan ZTT)N\F FINEERE (%)

Yagang') +—A+H

TiE B (FI) ARAT The PRC Wholly-foreign US$5,000,000 — 100 Inactive
(TZ=8mEY ) 13 March 2009 owned (note) KEAER

(Yatong Metal (Shenzhen) # enterprise 5,000,000 & 7T
Co., Ltd.) ("Yatong —ZTAF SNEBEMRE (FE&E)

Shenzhen”) =At+=H
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eV BERERNE

For the six months ended 30 June 2009 HZEZTTNFRA=THIAMEA

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Contd)

()  SUBSIDIARIES (Contd)

Note: Capital injections to these entities are not completed as at both 31 December

2008 and 30 June 2009.The unpaid capital for Tianjin Yatong, Zhongshan Yatong,

Wouhan Yagang and Yatong Shenzhen which were the same at 3| December
2008 and 30 June 2009 amounted to US$1,999,986, US$8,500,000,

US$12,000,000 and US$5,000,000, respectively.

(I AN ASSOCIATE

Particulars of the Group's associate at 3|1 December 2008 and 30 June

2009 are as follows:

BifsE

(1

43. MBARRBEDANFER (B)
(h

HEAR (&)

RZZEENE+ZRA=+—HRKZZZ
NERAZTH AATKEZEER
m&§ RZZENF+=-_A=+—H

EEAFEANA=1TH  HXZED
@Iﬂ : EPMHH CRE TR R R
ABNELRS A& 321,999,986
JC * 8,500,000% 7T * 12,000,000% T
%5,000,000% T ©

BB :

Proportion of
nominal value of
registered capital

held indirectly

Form of Place and by the Company
business date of ENRIBERE
Name of associate structure establishment AMEARN Principal activities
BELARER ERRBEX 298k ) = E HERZE FEXK
BN MIEE AR LA Sino-foreign The PRC 45%  Construction of
(Gaungzhou Zhujiang owned 28 February 2003 terminals, loading and
Steel Port Co,, Ltd.) enterprise i unloading of cargoes,
RONEBERE —ET=F and warehousing
—“R=+NH R
KHEMK
B
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